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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is a summary review of core operations, strategy, outlook, risks, the results of operations, 
liquidity, and capital resources of High Arctic Energy Services Inc. (“High Arctic” or the “Corporation”). This MD&A is based on information 
available to March 31, 2025, and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes for the years 
ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 (the “Financial Statements”). Additional information relating to the Corporation including the 
Corporation’s Annual Information Form (“AIF”) for the year ended December 31, 2024, is available under the Corporation’s profile on 
SEDAR+ at www.sedarplus.ca. This MD&A and the Financial Statements were reviewed by High Arctic’s Audit Committee and approved 
by the Board of Directors on March 31, 2025. Throughout the MD&A, all amounts are expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars (“CAD”) 
unless otherwise noted and have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board. 

Readers are cautioned that this MD&A contains certain forward-looking information. Please refer to the “Forward-Looking Statements” 
section of this MD&A for the Corporation’s discussion on forward looking information including risk factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially and certain assumptions used to underlie the forward-looking information. Definitions of certain non-IFRS financial 
measures are included under the “Non-IFRS Measures” section of this MD&A. Please refer to abbreviations listed on the last page of this 
MD&A. 

In the following discussion, the three months ended December 31, 2024, may be referred to as the “quarter” or “Q4 2024” and the 
comparative three months ended December 31, 2023, may be referred to as “Q4 2023”. References to other quarters may be presented 
as “QX 20XX” with X/XX being the quarter/year to which the commentary relates. Additionally, the year ended December 31, 2024, may 
be referred to as “FY 2024” or “YTD 2024” and the comparative year may be referred to as “FY 2023” or “YTD 2023”.  
 
 
Corporate Profile  
Headquartered in Calgary, Alberta, Canada, High Arctic’s continuing operations primarily involve the provision of pressure control 
equipment and equipment supporting the high-pressure stimulation of oil and gas wells and other oilfield equipment on a rental basis to 
exploration and production companies in Canada.  

High Arctic conducts its business operations in two separate operating segments: Rental Services (previously reported as “Ancillary 
Services”) and Production Services, both of which are supported by a Corporate segment. The Rental Services segment contains the 
Corporation’s rental equipment assets in western Canada. The Production Services segment is comprised of the Corporation’s inactive 
snubbing assets in the United States, and its equity investments in Team Snubbing Services Inc. (“Team Snubbing”) and the Seh’ Chene 
Well Services Limited Partnership (“Seh’ Chene Partnership”) in Canada. The Corporate segment contains High Arctic’s remaining assets 
including monetary investments and borrowings.   
 
 
Corporate Reorganization and Spinoff of the PNG Business 
On June 17, 2024, the Corporation held its Annual and Special General Meeting where the Corporation’s shareholders approved, amongst 
other things, a special resolution approving a reorganization of the Corporation by way of a plan of arrangement (“the Arrangement”) and 
a return of capital of $0.76 per pre-Arrangement common share of High Arctic. The reorganization was completed on August 12, 2024, 
and resulted in the spinoff of the Corporation’s former PNG business to High Arctic shareholders through a new publicly listed entity High 
Arctic Overseas Holdings Corp. (“SpinCo”) that trades on the TSX Venture Exchange under the trading symbol HOH. The approved return 
of capital of $0.76 per pre-Arrangement common share was distributed to shareholders on July 17, 2024. Finally, as part of the 
Arrangement, the Corporation effected a de facto four-to-one share consolidation whereby each High Arctic shareholder received one-
quarter of one post-Arrangement common share for every pre-Arrangement common share held prior to August 12, 2024. Throughout 
this MD&A, the legacy PNG business has been presented as discontinued operations. 
 
 
2024 Highlights 

• Successful integration of Delta Rental Services.  
• Completed the reorganization of High Arctic including the return of $37.8 million to shareholders.  
• Maintained operational excellence and safety as evidenced by the continuation of recordable incident free work. 
• Exited Q4 with net positive working capital of $2.7 million, including $3.1 million of cash. 
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Select Comparative Financial Information 
The following is a summary of select financial information of the Corporation:  

  Year ended December 31  
(thousands of Canadian Dollars, except per share amounts)  2024 2023 2022 
Operating results from continuing operations:     
Revenue – continuing operations   10,470 3,384 38,501 
Net loss - continuing operations  (2,117) (989) (29,673) 
     Per share (basic & diluted) (1)  (0.17) (0.08) (0.61) 
Oilfield services operating margin - continuing operations (2)  5,207 2,058 3,839 
     Oilfield services operating margin as a % of revenue (2)  49.7% 60.8% 10.0% 
EBITDA - continuing operations (2)  (527) (2,311) (12,849) 
Adjusted EBITDA - continuing operations (2)  795 (2,703) (1,663) 
Operating loss - continuing operations (2)  (2,965) (5,163) (8,744) 
Cash flow from continuing operations:     
Cash flow from (used in) continuing operating activities  184 (515) 4,291 
     Per share (basic & diluted) (1)  0.01 (0.04) 0.09 
Funds flow from (used in) continuing operating activities (2)  484 (1,292) (3,791) 
     Per share (basic & diluted) (1)  0.04 (0.11) (0.08) 
2024 return of capital/2022-2023 dividends (3)  37,842 2,190 2,193 
Capital expenditures - continuing operations  1,947 501 3,515 
                               As at December 31 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars, except per share amounts and 
common shares outstanding) 

 
2024 2023 2022 

Financial position:     
Working capital (2)  2,692 62,985 59,461 
Cash and cash equivalents   3,123 50,331 19,559 
Total assets  30,867 123,137 133,957 
Long-term debt (non-current)  3,178 3,352 4,028 
Shareholders’ equity  21,105 99,332 115,231 
      Per share (basic) (1)  1.70 8.09 9.47 
Common shares outstanding (4)  12,448,166 12,280,568 12,172,958 

(1) The number of common shares used in calculating net loss per share, cash flow from (used in) operating activities, funds flow from operating activities 
per share, dividend payments per share, and shareholders’ equity per share is determined as explained in Note 16 of the Financial Statements (continuing 
operations).  

(2) Readers are cautioned that Oilfield services operating margin, EBITDA (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization), Adjusted EBITDA, 
Operating income (loss), Funds flow from operating activities and Working capital do not have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS – see the 
“Non IFRS Measures” section in this MD&A for calculations of these measures.  

(3) 2023 and 2022 amounts are cash dividends declared. 

(4) Pursuant to the de facto four-to-one consolidation of the Corporation’s outstanding common shares effective August 12, 2024, the number of common 
shares outstanding and all per-share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to effect the stock consolidation. 
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Outlook 
As a result of the successful execution of the Arrangement and corporate reorganization during 2024, High Arctic has transformed itself. 
After a decade of significant cash flow generation and cash dividends and distribution to shareholders in excess of $105 million, bold 
measures were taken to adjust for the decade ahead. The 2024 Arrangement provided shareholders with a separate investment holding 
and future flexibility through a new publicly traded entity containing the former PNG business (TSXV: HOH) plus a tax efficient cash 
distribution in the form of a $37.8 million return of capital. It also provided shareholders with a continuing investment in a refined, Canadian 
focused, and reset High Arctic publicly traded entity.  

High Arctic’s Canadian platform is characterized by minimal debt and its continuing operations now consist of:  

• A western Canadian high-margin equipment rental business - centred on pressure control and well stimulation;  
• A minority 42% interest in Canada’s largest oilfield snubbing services business, Team Snubbing; and 
• Two industrial properties, located in Clairmont and Whitecourt, Alberta.  

High Arctic anticipates that its Rental Services segment will continue to generate funds flow from operations commensurate with oil and 
gas well completion fundamentals in western Canada. The rental business footprint, while still small in scale, was bolstered by the 2023 
Delta Acquisition. This acquisition is indicative of the type and structure of accretive investment High Arctic will look to pursue going 
forward. For 2025, the Rental Services segment is expected to be at a stage whereby operating cash flow covers Corporate segment costs 
and yields modest funds for organic growth. 

High Arctic is at the early stages of a new chapter in its corporate history. The 2024 transformational developments provide a clean platform 
to enable a new strategic direction. The Board of Directors is currently undergoing a process to recruit and appoint a new Chief Executive 
Officer to augment and lead High Arctic’s vision and strategic plan. High Arctic’s current intent is to grow its equipment rentals business 
and position itself to benefit from upstream energy service activity levels in the western Canadian oil and gas industry. Complementary 
new service lines with high margin, low headcount and low fixed costs, are also being considered.  

In summary for 2025, the Corporation expects to continue to execute on the initial phases of its strategic business plan, with progress to 
date being evidenced by selective capital expenditure investments in its rental business throughout 2024. High Arctic continues to assess 
acquisition targets that are both complimentary and new to existing customer offerings. Potential benefits of an acquisition for High Arctic 
include enhancing the scope and scale of its operations; the ability to provide a broader customer service offering; and 
formalizing/augmenting the leadership team for the Corporation.  

Execution of the strategic plan remains opportunistic and is ongoing. The timing and ability to execute on certain underlying objectives, 
however, has become challenging due to recent divisive global geopolitical developments and resulting global economic uncertainties. 
These developments include changes and potential changes in global trade policies and tariffs, threats of additional or retaliatory tariffs, 
and policy shifts as a result of new government leadership in many jurisdictions around the world. The federal election in Canada, set for 
April 28, 2025, may have a significant impact on long term investment in Canada’s energy industry.  

Western Canadian oil and gas activity levels, despite volatility in underlying commodity prices, have benefited from resurgent Canadian 
upstream activity to meet, and then sustain, growing oil and natural gas export infrastructure capacity. This includes tidewater access off 
the west coast of Canada through the 2024 Trans Mountain pipeline expansion, expected 2025 LNG Canada pipeline commencement, and 
land pipeline expansion to the United States through completed projects such as the Line 3 expansion.    
 
2025 Strategic Objectives 
With the corporate restructuring and spinoff of the PNG business complete, the Corporation’s 2025 strategic objectives include: 

• Relentless focus on safety excellence and quality service delivery; 
• Grow the core businesses through selective and opportunistic investments; 
• Actively manage direct operating costs and general and administrative costs; 
• Steward capital to preserve balance sheet strength and financial flexibility; and 
• Execute on accretive acquisitions in Canada to drive shareholder value and optimize available tax loss carry-forwards. 
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2024 Strategic Objectives 
At the beginning of 2024, High Arctic established a set of strategic priorities. Our priorities and highlights of objectives met include:   

• Continued relentless focus on safety excellence and quality service delivery. 
o High Arctic’s Canadian business completed 2024 without any recordable incidents, contributing to the Corporation’s 

second calendar year running with a zero Total Recordable Incident Frequency Rate (“TRIF”) rate. 
o High Arctic extended its recordable incident free activity in PNG, with 7 years and 353 days of continuous recordable 

incident free work conducted to the date of the spin-out, representing over 4 million work hours.  
• The creation of appropriate capital and corporate structures for the current businesses, providing the opportunity to consider 

transactions which would create value for the Corporation’s shareholders. 
o The Arrangement was overwhelmingly supported by shareholders and resulted in separate public companies each 

focused upon their area of expertise. 
• A return of significant capital and spin out of the PNG Business to shareholders.  

o The Arrangement resulted in separate public companies while also delivering a tax efficient return of capital totaling 
$37.8 million to shareholders.  

o The Corporation retained its position on the main TSX (TSX: HWO); with High Arctic Overseas Holdings Corp. being 
listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (TSXV: HOH). 

• Grow the core businesses through selective and opportunistic investments. 
o The Corporation focused on the very successful integration and rebranding of its rentals business in 2024, following 

its acquisition and amalgamation of the Delta Acquisition at the end of 2023. 
o The middle of the year was dedicated to the business of the Arrangement and the resulting transitionary work, 

however later in the year, the Corporation commenced the examination of selective investment opportunities, with 
this work continuing into 2025.   

• Capital stewardship that preserves balance sheet strength and financial flexibility. 
o The Delta acquisition has provided incremental free cash flow and operational synergies.  
o The Corporation currently maintains low debt levels and associated leverage ratios. 
o Exited 2024 with a working capital ratio of 1.6:1 

• Building up the Canadian business with acquisitions that allow the Corporation to optimize its available tax loss carry-forwards. 
o The Delta acquisition creates a blueprint for accretive acquisitions that position the Corporation to improve its ability 

to utilize its significant tax loss carry-forwards. 
o The Corporation, under the stewardship of the Board, continues its strategic review of potential acquisition targets 

with strong underlying intrinsic value and that will be accretive for shareholders. 
 

Discussion of Operations 
Fourth Quarter 2024 Summary  

• Revenue from continuing operations increased 136% to $2,443 in the quarter compared to $1,037 in Q4 2023. The increase in 
revenue is primarily attributable to the Delta Acquisition in late Q4 2023.  

• Oilfield services operating margin from continuing operations was $1,143 in the current year quarter compared to $664 in the 
prior year quarter, an increase of $479 or 72%, driven by the Delta Acquisition as noted above.  

• EBITDA from continuing operations was $178 in the current year quarter compared to EBITDA loss of $918 in the prior year 
quarter. EBITDA from continuing operations benefitted from the acquisition of Delta Rental Services Ltd. (“Delta”) or (the “Delta 
Acquisition”) in late 2023.    

• Operating loss from continuing operations of $553 in the quarter compared to $1,408 in Q4 2023. The decrease in operating 
loss is attributable to higher oilfield services operating margin and reduced general and administrative costs, offset in part, by 
an increase in depreciation and amortization expenses. The improvements in operating loss from continuing operations is 
directly related to the Delta Acquisition. 

• Net loss from continuing operations was $715 in Q4 2024 compared to net income from continuing operations of $219 in Q4 
2023. Net loss from continuing operations was impacted by the same items impacting operating loss (as above) with a 
substantial contribution from the Delta Acquisition combined with reduced interest income, net higher non-cash accretion on 
contingent payments and notes receivable, fair value related adjustments, reduced income from equity accounted investment 
in Team Snubbing, and the positive change in foreign exchanges loss in Q4 2023 to gain in Q4 2024. 
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Annual 2024 Summary 
• Revenue from continuing operations increased 209% to $10,470 compared to revenue of $3,384 achieved in 2023. Consistent 

with the summary of the fourth quarter results, the increase in revenue is primarily attributable to the Delta Acquisition in late 
Q4 2023. 

• Oilfield services operating margin from continuing operations was $5,207 in the current year quarter compared to $2,058 in the 
prior year quarter, an increase of $3,149 or 153%, driven by the Delta Acquisition as noted above.  

• EBITDA loss from continuing operations was $527 in the current year compared to EBITDA loss of $2,311 in the prior year. 
EBITDA from continuing operations benefitted from the Delta Acquisition.   

• Operating loss from continuing operations improved to $2,965 in the year compared to $5,163 in 2023. The decrease in 
operating loss is attributable to higher oilfield services operating margin, offset in part, by an increase in depreciation and 
amortization expenses. The improvements in operating loss from continuing operations was directly related to the Delta 
Acquisition.  

• Net loss from continuing operations was $2,117 compared to $989 in FY 2023. The net loss, despite an improvement of $2,198 
in operating income, is primarily due to the 2023 $615 gain on sale of the nitrogen business, a 2023 $915 deferred income tax 
recovery, $729 lower interest income from cash on guaranteed investment certificates (“GICs”) and term deposits in 2024 with 
the July 2024 distributed return of capital to shareholders, $1,493 lower equity investment income from Team Snubbing, and 
the net impact of higher non-cash accretion related expenses. 

• Production Service’s 42% equity investment share of Team Snubbing Services Inc. net loss was $690 for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, compared to net income of $803 in the comparative period in 2023. Weak international operating results 
in 2024 combined with costs incurred to restructure the international business in Alaska dragged down Team Snubbing’s results 
while the Canadian business performed in line with 2023. 

• Cash from operating activities from continuing operations was $184 for the year, an improvement of $699 as compared to the 
prior year use of $515, driven by strong operational performance from the Delta Acquisition, partially offset by the significant 
additional general and administrative expenses incurred in 2024 due to the Arrangement. 

 
Operating Results 

Rental Services segment 

 Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise noted) 2024 2023 2024  2023 
Revenue 2,443 1,037 10,470 3,384 
Oilfield services expense (1,300) (373) (5,263) (1,326) 
Oilfield services operating margin(1) 1,143 664 5,207 2,058 
Operating margin (%) (1) 46.8% 64.0% 49.7% 60.8% 

(1) See “Non-IFRS Measures”  

The Rental Services segment consists of High Arctic’s oilfield rental equipment in Canada, centred upon pressure control equipment and 
equipment supporting the high-pressure stimulation of oil and gas wells in the WCSB.  
  
The increase in revenue for the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2024, versus the comparable periods in 2023 is a 
direct result of the contribution from the Delta business that was acquired in late 2023. Specifically, Q4 2024 revenues increased by $1,406 
or 136% compared to Q3 2023, with annual 2024 revenues increasing by $7,086 or 209% when compared to annual 2023. Operating 
margins of 46.8% and 49.7% for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2024, respectively, are approximately 17 percent and 
11 percent lower (on a gross basis) than the comparable periods in 2023, respectively. The reduction in operating margins is primarily a 
result of the Delta Acquisition, as Delta utilizes a combination of owned and third-party rental equipment in its operations, with third-party 
rental equipment resulting in higher operating expenses. 
 
Production Services segment 
The Production Services segment operations consist of High Arctic’s idled snubbing units in Colorado, U.S., and its equity investments in 
the Seh’ Chene Partnership and Team Snubbing Services Inc. in Canada. Though the Seh’ Chene Partnership has experienced limited 
business activity since the 2022 Canadian sales transactions, the partnership is still active and the Corporation together with its partner 
will look to reposition its customer offerings and explore other avenues for business activity. 
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Team Snubbing Services Inc. 
High Arctic accounts for the results of its 42% equity interest in Team Snubbing using the equity method of accounting, with Team 
Snubbing’s net earnings recorded as income from equity investments in the respective reporting period. As reported in the Corporation’s 
2024 Financial Statements (Note 12), Team Snubbing achieved gross revenues of $26,064 for 2024 versus gross revenues of $21,252 for 
the comparative period in 2023. This increase in revenues is primarily a result of the consolidation of the results of Team Snubbing 
International Inc. (“Team International”) for the first time following Team Snubbing’s April 1, 2024, acquisition of control of Team 
International.  
 
Team International’s operations experienced lower than anticipated activity levels in the Alaskan market in both Q4 2024, and for the year 
2024. In addition, during Q2 2024, Team International incurred additional costs for restructuring management and operational teams. The 
restructuring initiative consolidated Team International’s workforce, “right sizing” it to the needs of the overall customer base and aligning 
the service delivery with Team Snubbing’s successful Canadian model. Team Snubbing’s domestic Canadian operations experienced similar 
activity levels in both Q4 2024 and year-to-date 2024, when compared to the same periods of 2023. 
 
High Arctic’s proportionate share of Team Snubbing’s net loss for 2024 was $690 compared to an income inclusion of $803 for the 
comparable period in 2023, representing a decrease in income from equity investment of $1,493. This year-over-year decline in income 
from equity investment realized in 2024 was primarily due to the results of Team International. 
 
PNG Business Spinoff – Discontinued Operations 
The operating results of the Corporation’s PNG business, which includes activity from its Drilling Services and International Rental Services 
segments, reported herein as discontinued operations for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows. 

  Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024(1) 2023 2024(1) 2023 
Revenue - 17,077 27,352 58,549 
Oilfield services expense - (11,693) (16,890) (39,344) 
General and administrative expense - (1,306) (4,192) (4,309) 
Depreciation and amortization expenses - (949) (3,591) (8,385) 
Interest income and finance expense - 14 (65) (153) 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) - (152) (12) (193) 
Gain (loss) on sale of property and equipment - (25) - (18) 
Asset impairment loss - - - (20,500) 
Reclassification of cumulative foreign currency translation gain 

on distribution to SpinCo 
 

- 
 

- 
 

28,686 
 

- 
Pre-tax income (loss) for the period - 2,966 31,288 (14,353) 
Income tax recovery (expense) - (439) (860) 2,508 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations  - 2,527 30,428 (11,845) 

(1) The 2024 operating results of the PNG Business includes operating results from January 1, 2024 to August 12, 2024. 

 
Revenues and oilfield services expenses from discontinued operations declined during YTD 2024 when compared to the comparable 2023 
period as a result of lower PNG rig utilization and the fact that the current years financial results include operating results up to August 
12, 2024, compared to a full year inclusion in the comparative period. General and administrative expenses relating to discontinued 
operations were impacted by higher professional fees and other related costs as a result of the Arrangement transaction. Depreciation 
and amortization expenses relating to discontinued operations for YTD 2024 were lower than in the comparable 2023 period, primarily as 
a result of the $20,500 asset impairment loss incurred in Q3 2023. The distribution of the PNG business to SpinCo resulted in the cumulative 
foreign currency translation recorded in High Arctic’s accumulated other comprehensive income account being reclassified to net income 
of $28,686. The reclassification was recognized in the third quarter of 2024, was the primary contributor to the net income from 
discontinued operations for YTD 2024. 
  
  



2024 | MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 7 HIGH ARCTIC ENERGY SERVICES INC. 

 

Nitrogen Business Assets – Discontinued Operations 
On July 31, 2023, the Corporation closed the sale of all nitrogen business assets, which were located in Canada, previously included in its 
Ancillary Services segment (which beginning this quarter has been renamed “Rental Services”). Accordingly, the operating results of the 
Corporation’s nitrogen assets have been presented as discontinued operations. 
 
The results of the operations of the disposed nitrogen assets are as follows: 

 Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise noted) 2024 2023 2024  2023 
Revenue - - - 1,307 
Oilfield services expenses - - - (1,191) 
General and administrative expenses - - - (292) 
Depreciation expense - - - (129) 
Net loss from discontinued operations - - - (305) 

 
 
General and Administrative Expenses (“G&A”) 

 Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise noted) 2024 2023 2024  2023 
G&A 958 1,501 5,412 5,157 
Percent of revenue (%) 39.2% 144.7% 51.7% 152.4% 

 
Through 2023 and 2024, the Corporation’s G&A levels have been elevated as a result of professional fees and other related costs associated 
with the Arrangement transaction and the corporate reorganization that was completed in the third quarter of 2024. In Q4 2024, High 
Arctic incurred $207 in costs associated with the Arrangement transaction primarily related to year end audit work on SpinCo related 
financial information included in the Corporation’s Financial Statements up to August 12, 2024. While High Arctic does not anticipate any 
material costs associated with the Arrangement transaction being incurred in 2025, management is still in the process of right-sizing its 
G&A costs to align with its existing business. Excluding the impact of costs associated with the Arrangement transaction, G&A costs for 
YTD 2024 were consistent with management’s expectations.  
 
High Arctic recorded G&A costs of $958 in Q4 2024 compared to $1,501 in the comparative quarter with annual 2024 G&A costs of $5,412 
compared to $5,157 in the comparative period. As previously noted, G&A costs for 2024 were impacted by costs incurred as a result of the 
Arrangement transaction, offset by reduced administrative headcount related costs and the Corporation continuing to right-size its G&A 
costs for its existing business. Additionally, the Corporation has charged SpinCo for specific financial, legal and tax matters related to the 
Arrangement transaction. These charges totaled $207 and $1,259 for the three and twelve month periods in 2024. G&A related costs 
associated with the transaction that are specific to SpinCo for the current year period (January 1, 2024 through to August 12, 2024) are 
included in G&A in discontinued operations. 
 
Management continues to focus on actively managing G&A costs, ensuring that the cost structure is appropriately aligned with High 
Arctic’s existing Canadian focused rentals business.  
 
Depreciation and amortization expenses 
Depreciation and amortization expenses of property and equipment, intangibles and right-of-use assets totaled $697 in Q4 2024 
compared to $343 during Q4 2023, an increase of $354 or 103%. Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 
31, 2024, totaled $2,600 compared to $1,568 during the same period in 2023, an increase of $1,032 or 66%. These increases are a direct 
result of the additional property and equipment cost base associated with capital expenditures, intangible additions and the Delta 
Acquisition which has, in turn, increased depreciation expense. 
  
Share-based compensation 
Share-based compensation expense is the charge to income over the service period relating to stock option or unit plans which generally 
contemplate the issuance of common shares upon vesting. The Corporation recorded $21 of expense in Q4 2024 compared to $228 in 
Q4 2023 and $160 of expense for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $496 for the comparative period.  
 
On July 2, 2024, the Corporation settled the last remaining equity-based incentive awards it had outstanding prior to the completion of 
the reorganization. The decrease in the share-based compensation expense in 2024 when compared to 2023 was due to the 
extinguishment of the legacy share-based compensation awards, offset in part, by expense associated with stock option grants issued in 
Q4 2024. On November 18, 2024, 575,000 stock options were granted at an exercise price of $1.19.  
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Interest, finance expenses and income (loss) from equity investments 

 Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024 2023 2024  2023 
Interest on long-term debt and standby fees 36 37 150 189 
Finance expense – lease liabilities 20 5 82 32 
Accretion on contingent consideration 292 - 292 - 
Other expenses (income) - (2) 11 10 
Interest and finance expense 348 40 535 231 
     
Notes receivable accretion income 66 51 265 192 
     
Interest income 86 553 1,289 2,018 
     
Income (loss) from equity investments (396) 352 (690) 803 
     
Foreign currency gain (loss) 661 (290) 795 (321) 
     

Interest expense is pursuant to a mortgage secured by lands and buildings owned by High Arctic located within Alberta, Canada. The 
reduction in interest expense is due to the normal course repayments of the outstanding mortgage balance throughout 2024 resulting in 
reduced interest charges. The mortgage has a remaining initial term of less than two years with a fixed interest rate of 4.30% and payments 
occurring monthly. The Corporation’s mortgage financing contains certain non-financial covenants requiring lenders’ consent including 
changes to the underlying business. As at December 31, 2024, the total principal balance outstanding was $3,353.  
 
Finance expense associated with lease liabilities for Q4 2024 was $20 versus $5 in Q4 2023 and $82 for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
versus $32 for the same period the year prior. The increase in finance expense is due to higher average lease obligations in 2024 compared 
to 2023. The increase in lease obligations is a result of lease obligations recognized as part of the Delta Acquisition in December 2023. 
 
Accretion expense of $292 was recognized in Q4 2024 related to the contingent consideration payable which was recognized as part of 
the Delta Acquisition in December 2023.  
 
Contingent Consideration Payable 
In 2023, as part of the consideration for the Delta Acquisition, High Arctic recognized a contingent consideration payable in the amount 
of $2,952. The contingent consideration payable is based on the historical Delta business achieving specific profitability targets, adjusted 
for certain capital expenditures incurred. In accordance with the purchase and sale agreement, the seller will receive a set percentage of 
the profitability target achieved. The percentage increases when the profitability target is exceeded by 20% and is reduced if the target is 
less than 95%. No contingent consideration is payable when less than 50% of the profitability target is achieved. As at December 31, 2024, 
the contingent consideration payable outstanding was $2,357 of which $1,245 was a current liability and $1,112 being a long-term liability. 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at December 31, 2024, is $1,146 related to the first year portion of the contingent 
consideration.  
 
Notes Receivable 
As at December 31, 2024, the Corporation has two notes receivable outstanding, with a combined principal balance outstanding of $3,091 
for which accretion income is required to be recognized. The carrying value of each note is adjusted for accretion over the individual note 
terms with $66 and $265 recorded during the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2024 ($51 and $192 for the comparable 
periods in 2023). The increase in accretion is due to the note receivable associated with the Delta Acquisition in December 2023. See below 
for a summary of the individual note receivables.  
 
Team Snubbing Note Receivable 
As part of the sale of the Canadian snubbing assets in 2022, the Corporation received a convertible promissory note for $3,365 with a five-
year term, annual interest rate of 4.5% accruing from January 1, 2023, and principal payments commencing in July 2024. As at December 
31, 2024, the principal balance outstanding was $2,548. 
 
Delta Rentals Note Receivable 
In 2023, as part of the assets acquired in the Delta Acquisition, High Arctic received an interest-free note receivable for $880 with a three-
year term, accruing from December 28, 2023, and principal repayments commencing December 2024. The carrying value of the note is 
determined by discounting the anticipated future cash flow impact of the note using an effective interest rate of 5.0% which approximates 
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding of the note. As at December 31, 2024, the principal amount outstanding 
was $543. 
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Interest income from cash invested in high-interest accounts and GICs totalled $86 during Q4 2024 (Q4 2023 – $553) and $1,289 for 2024 
(2023 – $2,018). As at December 31, 2024, the Corporation had $3,123 maintained in a high-interest savings account earning an interest 
rate of approximately 4.25%.  
 
Income (loss) from equity investments represents High Arctic’s equity interest in Team Snubbing and the Seh’ Chene Partnership using the 
equity method of accounting. High Arctic records its proportionate interest of net income or loss generated from these investments into 
its earnings in the respective reporting period. In the fourth quarter of 2024, the Corporation recorded a loss from its equity investments 
of $396 (2023: income of $352) and a loss of $690 for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: income of $803). On April 1, 2024, Team 
Snubbing acquired control of Team International and as a result, was required to consolidate Team International’s 2024 financial results 
with its own starting from April 1, 2024. The inclusion of losses from Team International for the last three quarters of 2024 more than offset 
the net income generated by Team Snubbing for 2024.  

Foreign exchange gain for Q4 2024 was $661 compared to a loss of $290 in the prior year comparative period, with a foreign exchange 
gain of $795 for the year ended 2024 compared to a loss of $321 in the prior year. Foreign exchange gains and losses were impacted by 
changes in the US dollar (“USD”) to Canadian dollar (“CAD”) foreign currency exchange rate related to the revaluation of the Corporation’s 
USD denominated assets and liabilities. As at December 31, 2024, the USD to CAD foreign currency exchange rate was 1.4389 compared 
to 1.3226 as at December 31, 2023. The depreciation of the CAD dollar during 2024 resulted in a net gain on the translation of the 
Corporation’s net US denominated assets for both Q4 2024 and YTD 2024.  
 
Other comprehensive gain (loss) 
The Corporation recorded a $228 foreign currency translation gain in other comprehensive income (loss) for 2024 (2023: $873 loss) 
associated with the translation of its subsidiaries that have a functional currency other than CAD. The gain in 2024 is a result of the stronger 
USD at the end of 2024 as previously noted. The loss in 2023 was primarily a result of a relatively weaker USD at the end of 2023. The USD 
to CAD exchange rate at year end 2024 was 1.4389 compared to the USD to CAD exchange rate of 1.3226 at year end 2023.  
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024 2023 2024 2023 
Cash provided by (used in) continuing operations:     
     Operating activities 226 (874) 184 (515) 
     Investing activities (310) (3,160) (997) 25,638 
     Financing activities (430) 45 (38,659) (2,967) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (469) (745) 717 (720) 
Increase (decrease) in cash from continuing operations (983) (4,734) (38,755) 21,436 

 
 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise noted) 

  As at  
Dec 31, 2024 (2) 

As at  
Dec 31, 2023 

Current assets    7,221 79,438 
Working capital(1)   2,692 62,985 
Working capital ratio(1)   1.6:1 4.8:1 
Cash and cash equivalents   3,123 50,331 
Net cash(1)   (230) 46,804 

(1) See “Non-IFRS Measures” 
(2) Continuing operations 

Operating Activities 
In Q4 2024, cash from operating activities from continuing operations was $226, as compared with an outflow of $874 from operating 
activities from continuing operations in Q4 2023. Funds from operating activities from continuing operations totaled $530 in the quarter 
versus funds used of $335 for Q4 2023 (see “Non-IFRS Measures”). In Q4 2024, changes in non-cash operating working capital from 
continuing operations totaled an outflow of $304 compared to an outflow of $539 in Q4 2023. 
 
For the year ended 2024, cash from operating activities from continuing operations was $184 as compared to a use of cash of $515 of 
cash from operating activities from continuing operations in 2023. Funds from operating activities from continuing operations totaled 
$484 for the year ended 2024, versus a use of funds of $1,292 for 2023.  
 
Changes in cash from operating activities from continuing operations and funds from operating activities from continuing operations for 
both the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2024, when compared to the same periods in 2023, were largely the result of the 
positive impact on the business from the Delta Acquisition. In addition, operating related cash flows in the fourth quarter of 2024 
benefitted from reduced G&A costs associated with the Arrangement transaction which was completed in the third quarter of 2024.  
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Investing Activities 
During the fourth quarter, the Corporation’s net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations totaled $310 compared to 
$3,160 for the prior year comparative quarter. For the year ended 2024, net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations 
totaled $997 compared to an inflow of $25,638 in the prior year. For the fourth quarter of 2024 and YTD 2024, the majority of expenditures 
incurred related to sustaining and growth capital for the Rental Services Segment combined with investments in information technology 
and systems required to support the Corporation upon completion of the Arrangement transaction. YTD 2023 investing activities were 
impacted by proceeds received on the sale of assets (net of costs) of $29,569, offset in part by the Delta Acquisition in Q4 2023 for $3,430. 
 
Financing Activities 
During the fourth quarter, the Corporation’s net cash used in financing activities from continuing operations was $430 compared to an 
inflow of $45 in the prior year comparative quarter. For the year ended 2024, net cash used in financing activities from continuing 
operations was $38,659 compared to $2,967 in the prior year. Cash flow from financing activities for the year ended 2024 was impacted 
by a one-time $37,842 distribution to shareholders in accordance with the completion of the Arrangement transaction. Excluding the 
impact of the one-time distribution, cash flows related to finance activities were impacted by the normal course receipts and payments 
on the Corporation’s existing note receivables, lease liabilities and long-term debt.   
 
Working Capital 
As at December 31, 2024, the Corporation’s working capital balance was $2,692 compared to $62,985 as at December 31, 2023. The 
change in working capital is largely due to the spinout of the Corporation’s PNG business combined with the $37,842 return of capital 
distribution paid during 2024, both of which were completed in connection with the Arrangement transaction.  
 
Long-term Debt 

 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

  As at  
Dec 31, 2024 

As at  
Dec 31, 2023 

Current   175 175 
Non-current   3,178 3,352 
Total   3,353 3,527 

The Corporation has mortgage financing secured by lands and buildings owned by High Arctic located within Alberta, Canada. The 
mortgage has a remaining initial term of under two years with a fixed interest rate of 4.30% with payments occurring monthly. The 
mortgage financing contains certain non-financial covenants requiring lenders’ consent including changes to the underlying business. As 
at December 31, 2024, the Corporation was compliant with all covenants associated with the mortgage financing. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
As at December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, the Corporation did not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements.  
 
Acquisitions and Dispositions 
On December 28, 2023, High Arctic completed the acquisitionof all the shares of Delta Rental Services Ltd. for cash consideration of $3,430 
and contingent consideration with an original estimated payable of $2,952. The contingent consideration includes a combination of cash 
and shares, which if payable, will be paid over a three-year period. For the first year, being FY 2024, the contingent consideration met 
expectations and has been classified in accrued accounts payable to be settled in cash and High Arctic common shares during Q1 2025.  
For the remaining two years of 2025 and 2026 estimated cash flows associated with the Delta Acquisition increased. This outlook has 
resulted in a $259 fair value increase in the carrying value of the acquisition, and $292 higher interest accretion on the revised contingent 
consideration liability estimate for a combined increase of $551. Both adjustments were charged to expense in Q4 2024, as prescribed by 
IFRS.     

On June 19, 2023, High Arctic entered into an agreement to sell its Canadian Nitrogen transportation, hauling and pumping services 
business to a private company (the “Nitrogen Transaction”) for cash consideration of $1,350. The transaction closed on July 31, 2023. 
Throughout this MD&A, the legacy High Arctic Canadian Nitrogen transportation, hauling and pumping services business has been 
presented as discontinued operations. 
 
Related Party Transactions 
Refer to Note 23 of the Corporation’s 2024 Financial Statements for disclosures related to related parties.  
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Outstanding Share Capital 
The Corporation’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of preferred 
shares. Directors, officers, and certain employees have been granted stock options and incentive shares and units under the Corporation’s 
approved equity compensation plans.   
 

 Year ended Dec 31, 2024 Year ended Dec 31, 2023 
(Common shares issued and outstanding) (1) Shares(2)  Amount Shares(1  Amount 
Balance, beginning of year 12,280,568 $169,992 12,172,958 $169,554 
Exercise of performance share units 70,545 422 112,184 502 
Exercise of deferred share units 97,053 581 - - 
Return of capital(3) - (37,842) - - 
Purchase of common shares for cancellation - - (4,574) (64) 
Balance, end of year 12,448,166 $133,153 12,280,568 $169,992 

(1) The Corporation’s common shares do not have a par value and all issued shares are fully paid. 
(2) Pursuant to the de facto four-to-one consolidation of the Corporation’s outstanding common shares effective August 12, 2024, the number of common 

shares outstanding and all per-share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to effect the stock consolidation. 
(3) On June 28, 2024, the Corporation announced the reduction of stated capital of the common shares for the purpose of distribution to shareholders of 

a return of capital of $0.76 per pre-Arrangement common share of High Arctic. The return of capital, which totaled $37.8 million, was paid to the 
Corporation’s shareholders on July 17, 2024. 

 
As previously discussed, on August 12, 2024, each shareholder of the Corporation received as consideration, one-quarter of one (1/4) 
common share of SpinCo ("SpinCo Common Share") and one-quarter of one (1/4) post-Arrangement common share of High Arctic for 
each pre-Arrangement common share of High Arctic held. Following completion of the Arrangement, the Corporation had 12,448,166 
post-Arrangement common shares outstanding. 
 
A total of 167,598 common shares were issued between December 31, 2023, to the date immediately prior to the spinoff transaction, 
being August 11, 2024. On November 14, 2024, the Corporation issued 575,000 stock options to directors and officers of the Corporation. 
As at the date of this MD&A, no units under the Corporation’s Performance Share Unit Plan nor Deferred Share Unit plan were outstanding.  

Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Corporation issued 248,793 shares as part of the settlement of the first year contingent 
consideration payable pursuant to the Delta Acquisition. 

As at the date of this MD&A, the number of common shares of the Corporation outstanding was 12,696,959. 

On December 13, 2023, the Corporation received approval from the Toronto Stock Exchange to acquire for cancellation up to 250,000 
common shares, or approximately 2.0 percent of the Corporation’s outstanding shares, under a Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”). Upon 
completion of the Arrangement, the NCIB was terminated on August 12, 2024. No shares were purchased and cancelled pursuant to the 
NCIB prior to its termination in FY 2024. The Corporation’s previous NCIB commenced on December 15, 2022, and terminated on 
December 14, 2023. Pursuant to this previous NCIB, 4,574 common shares were purchased and cancelled in Q1 2023. 

Summary of Quarterly Results – Continuing Operations 
The following is a summary of selected consolidated financial information from continuing operations of the Corporation for the last eight 
completed quarters: 

 Three months ended 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars, 
except per share amounts) 

Dec 31, 
2024 

Sept 30, 
2024 

Jun 30, 
2024 

Mar 31, 
2024 

Dec 31, 
2023 

Sept 30, 
2023 

Jun 30, 
2023 

Mar 31, 
2023 

Revenue 2,443 2,506 2,533 
 

2,988 1,037 1,015 664 668 
Net income (loss) (715) 125 (1,709) 182 219 498 (1,546) (160) 
Net earnings (loss) per 
   share – basic and diluted(1) (0.06) 0.01 (0.14) 0.01 0.02 0.04 (0.13) (0.01) 

(1) See “Non-IFRS Measures” 
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For the quarters Q1 2024 to Q4 2024, the Corporation realized an increase in revenue from its Rental Services segment compared to the 
prior year, due to the addition of revenue from the Delta Acquisition which closed in late December 2023. Revenue from operations peaked 
in Q1, traditionally the busiest period for energy services in Canada as customers execute major drilling and completions work ahead of 
the break-up usually experienced in Q2. Energy services activity is typically curtailed in Q2 due to restrictions on the movement of heavy 
equipment on the roads in certain locations. 
 
Fluctuations in net income reported quarter-over-quarter have largely been due to the impacts of G&A expenses related to the 
Arrangement transaction and income and losses associated with the Corporation’s equity investment in Team Snubbing. The losses 
reported in the second quarters of 2024 and 2023 were the result of net losses associated with Corporation’s equity investment in Team 
Snubbing which totaled $889 and $430, respectively. The loss reported in the fourth quarter of 2024 is primarily a result of net losses 
associated with the Corporation’s equity investment in Team Snubbing which totaled $396 and additional G&A expenses related to the 
Arrangement transaction of $207. The quarterly fluctuations with respect to Team Snubbing net earnings are a result of the seasonality in 
oil and gas activity levels and the inclusion of losses from Team International for the last three quarters of 2024, as previously noted. 
Variations in G&A expenses are directly related to the Corporation’s reorganization activities as previously discussed. 
 
Seasonality of Operations 
The western Canadian oil and gas industry is subject to seasonality with drilling and well completion activity usually peaking during the 
winter months in the first and fourth quarters of a given calendar year. As temperatures rise in the spring, the ground thaws and becomes 
unstable, resulting in government road bans, which severely restrict activity in the second quarter. These seasonal trends typically lead to 
quarterly fluctuations in the Corporation’s operating results, including the results of the Corporation’s equity investment in Team Snubbing, 
which should be considered in any quarter over quarter analysis of the Company.  
 
Industry Indicators and Market Trends  
The following table provides information for the last eight quarters to assist with the understanding of the Canadian oilfield services 
industry and the effect that commodity prices have on industry activity levels.  

 Three months ended 

 
Dec 31, 

2024 
Sept 30, 

2024 
Jun 30, 

2024 
Mar 31, 

2024 
Dec 31, 

2023 
Sept 30, 

2023 
Jun 30, 

2023 
Mar 31, 

2023 
Oil and natural gas prices – 
Average for each period: 

        

West Texas Intermediate (WTI) 
(USD/bbl)(1) 

70 75 81 77 78 82 74 76 

West Canada Select (WCS) 
(CAD/bbl)(1) 

81 85 92 78 77 93 79 69 

Canada Light Sweet Oil (CLS) 
(CAD/bbl)(1) 

93 98 106 95 98 
 

107 95 
 

100 

AECO (CAD/mmbtu)(1) 1.48 0.70 1.17 2.18 2.30 2.61 2.43 3.23 
USDCAD Exchange Rate 1.3990 1.3637 1.3684 1.3488 1.3619 1.3412 1.3431 1.3518 
Cdn Average Rig Count (2) 193 207 134 208 180 187 116 221 

(1) Source: Sproule 
(2) Source: JuneWarren-Nickles 

During Q4 2024, average WTI, WCS and CLS index pricing was approximately 5-7% lower than Q3 2024, with WTI and CLS being 
approximately 5-10% lower than Q4 2023 and WCS being 5% higher than Q4 2023. Throughout both Q4 2024 and YTD 2024, crude oil 
prices continued to be volatile due largely to changes in short-term global demand forecasts influenced by ongoing conflicts in the Middle 
East and Ukraine. The improvement in WCS crude oil pricing vis-à-vis WTI that began in Q2 2024 is due to a favourable USD/CAD exchange 
rate combined with the commencement of operations of the TransMountain pipeline expansion on May 1, 2024. The TransMountain 
pipeline expansion has increased Canadian oil transportation capacity, which in turn has positively impacted oil price differentials on certain 
Canadian oil products. The combination of these factors should be favourable to the Canadian energy industry, providing oil and gas 
producers with support for continued upstream capital investment. 
 
Relative to historical pricing levels, AECO and US natural gas pricing was weak during Q4 2024 but was significantly improved compared 
to the third quarter of 2024. In particular, Canadian based natural gas pricing has been impacted disproportionately relative to other North 
American pricing points as a result of the greater physical distance Canadian AECO pricing is from certain natural gas markets, combined 
with variations in regional natural gas storage levels.  
 
Volatility in North American natural gas pricing has been prevalent over the past year, due largely to an oversupplied natural gas market, 
as both US and Canadian natural gas inventory levels remain high, while key LNG export projects face delays and the primary export 
markets of Europe have maintained adequate gas inventories. 
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Financial Risk Management 
Financial and other risks  
The Corporation is exposed to financial risks arising from its financial assets and liabilities. This includes pandemic and/or endemic disease 
risk or the risk that operations and/or administration are forced to run at less than full capacity due to an absence or reduction of members 
of the workforce, either through forced closures by government both within countries and across national borders, by internally imposed 
rotational schedules and/or quarantine or illness of the workforce. This risk was significant in 2021 in relation to COVID-19. Further, 
geopolitical risks are the potential risks that a business may face due to changes in global events, policies, or regulations. These could 
impact the Corporation’s workforce and operations by limiting market access and increasing costs. Also, cyber-security risks increase as 
the Corporation outsources its IT servers to cloud providers and employees work remotely. Such restrictions or risks could significantly 
impact the ability of the Corporation to operate and therefore impact financial results.  
 
Market and other related risk  
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial assets or liabilities will fluctuate due to movements in market 
rates:  
 
Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The 
Corporation currently has mortgage financing with a fixed interest rate of 4.30%. The Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk upon 
renewal or expiration of the initial term. In addition, the Corporation is also exposed to interest rate risk on any future borrowing as rates 
fluctuate in response to changes in monetary policy and the prime interest rates. The Corporation had no risk management contracts that 
would be affected by interest rates in place as at December 31, 2024.  
 
Commodity price risk  
Commodity price risk is the risk that the Corporation’s future cash flows will fluctuate due to changes in demand for High Arctic’s services, 
given that almost all the Corporation’s customers are oil and gas producers. High Arctic’s customer’s activity and strategic decisions are 
impacted by the fluctuations of oil and gas pricing.  
 
These prices are sensitive to not only the relationship between the Canadian and US dollar, but more importantly local, regional and world 
economic and geopolitical events. This includes implications from changing oil demand and supply, policy direction taken by OPEC 
including the role taken by Russia, climate change driven transitions to lower emission energy sources, and the implications of changes 
to government and government policy.  
 
While the Corporation recognizes it will be impacted by these risks, the Corporation also strongly believes that there is a significant role 
for the energy services industry in the current, transitionary, and future phases of energy industry changes.  
 
The Corporation had no risk management contracts that would be affected by commodity prices in place as at December 31, 2024.  
   
Credit risk, customers, and economic dependence  
Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss occurring as a result of a default by a counter party on its obligation to the Corporation. The 
Corporation’s financial instruments that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of accounts receivable and cash balances held in banks. 
The Corporation mitigates credit risk by regularly monitoring its accounts receivable position and depositing cash in properly capitalized 
banks.  The Corporation also institutes credit reviews prior to commencement of contractual arrangements. 
 

The Corporation’s accounts receivable is predominantly with customers who explore for and develop petroleum reserves and are subject 
to industry credit risk consistent with the industry. The Corporation assesses the creditworthiness of its customers on an ongoing basis 
and monitors the amount and age of balances outstanding.   
 

In providing for expected credit losses, the Corporation uses the historical default rates within the industry between investment grade and 
non-investment grade customers as well as forward-looking information to determine the appropriate loss allowance provision.   
 

The net carrying amount of accounts receivable represents the estimated maximum credit exposure on the accounts receivable balance.  
The Corporation has a range of customers comprised of small independent, intermediate and large multinational oil and gas producers 
in North America.   
 

The Corporation’s continuing operations provided services to one large customer who individually accounted for greater than 10% of its 
consolidated revenues during the three months ended December 31, 2024, with total sales of $250 (2023: four customers with total sales 
of $678).  
 

The Corporation’s continuing operations provided services to one large customer who individually accounted for greater than 10% of its 
consolidated revenues during the year ended December 31, 2024, with total sales of $1,283 (2023: four customers with total sales of 
$2,630).  
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As at December 31, 2024, two customers represented a total of $750 or 27% of outstanding accounts receivable (December 31, 2023, and 
inclusive of the Corporation’s discontinued operations – two customers represented a total of $15,139 or 92% of outstanding accounts 
receivable).   
 
The aging of the Corporation’s accounts receivable is as follows: 

 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

  As at  
Dec 31, 2024 

As at  
Dec 31, 2023 

Less than 31 days   1,180 6,680 
31 days to 60 days   552 6,842 
61 days to 90 days   444 2,854 
Greater than 90 days   611 1,284 
Provision for expected credit losses   (38) (192) 
Total   2,749 17,468 

 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation’s approach 
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due.   
 
The Corporation’s processes for managing liquidity risk include preparing and monitoring capital and operating budgets, working capital 
management, coordinating, and authorizing project expenditures, authorization of contractual agreements, managing compliance to debt 
finance agreements, and remaining attentive to the relationship with High Arctic’s bankers and other creditors. The Corporation seeks to 
manage its financing based on the results of these processes. 
 
Following the $37.8 million return of capital paid out to shareholders in FY 2024, the Corporation has a lower level of working capital 
available to support its continuing operations. The Corporation's future financial results and longer-term success are dependent upon its 
working capital, and its ability to secure additional capital from debt or equity financings or complete other arrangements to fund the 
Corporation's activities while the Corporation attempts to generate recurring positive cash flows from operations. The Corporation will 
continue to monitor its liquidity position in future periods.  
 
Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates and Material Accounting Policies 
Information on the Corporation’s critical accounting judgements and estimates can be found in Note 2 Basis of Presentation – Critical 
Accounting Judgements and Estimates in the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
Although estimates and assumptions must be made during the financial statement preparation process, it is management’s opinion that 
none of the estimates or assumptions were highly uncertain at the time they were made. The Corporation’s material accounting policies 
can be found in Note 3 in the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024.  
 
The audited consolidated financial statements of Team Snubbing for the year ended December 31, 2024, include a note stating that they 
are prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates that Team Snubbing will be able to continue its operations in the foreseeable 
future and realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations. This note identified the following factors which 
may cast doubt on the appropriateness of the going concern assumption, specifically: Team Snubbing’s negative working capital as at 
December 31, 2024; a loss from operations for the year then ended; a loss before taxes for the year then ended; and uncertain status of 
credit facility renewals as of the date of the approval of the consolidated financial statements. If in the future the going concern assumption 
is not appropriate for Team Snubbing then the carrying value of the equity investment in and the note receivable from Team Snubbing, 
as reflected in the Corporation’s financial statements, would be subject to impairment and that impairment amount may be material.  
 
Future Accounting Pronouncements 
Future accounting policy changes 
In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements, to replace IAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements, effective January 1, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The new standard sets out the requirements for presentation and 
disclosures in the financial statements. Management is presently reviewing the impact the standard will have on the Financial Statements.  
 
In May 2024, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures to address the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments, with an emphasis to clarify the date of recognition and derecognition of financial 
asset and liabilities, effective January 1, 2026, with early adoption permitted. Management is currently reviewing the impact of these 
amendments, but they are not expected to have a material impact on the Corporation’s Financial Statements. 
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures (“DC&P”) and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting (“ICFR”) 
ICFR is a process designed by or under the supervision of management and effected by the Board, management and other personnel to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of consolidated financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate ICFR, which no matter 
how well designed, has inherent limitations and can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair 
presentation of published financial statements. There have been no changes to High Arctic’s internal controls over financial reporting 
during the year ended December 31, 2024, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal controls 
over financial reporting.  
 
ICFR is a process designed by or under the supervision of management and effected by the Board, management and other personnel to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of consolidated financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate ICFR, which no matter 
how well designed, has inherent limitations and can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair 
presentation of published financial statements. There have been no changes to High Arctic’s internal controls over financial reporting 
during the year ended December 31, 2024, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal controls 
over financial reporting. As at December 31, 2024, an evaluation of the effectiveness of High Arctic’s DC&P as defined under the rules 
adopted by the Canadian securities regulatory authorities was carried out under the supervision of and with the participation of 
management, including the CEO and the CFO. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that as at December 31, 2024, the 
design and operation of the Corporation’s DC&P was effective. The Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) as issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission was utilized for this purpose. 
 
For information regarding the corporate governance policies and practices of High Arctic, the reader should refer to High Arctic’s Annual 
Information Form (“AIF”) dated March 31, 2025, in respect of the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
Business Risks and Uncertainties  
In addition to the financial risks discussed above under “Financial Risk Management”, below under “Forward Looking Statements” and 
elsewhere in this MD&A, High Arctic is exposed to a number of business risks and uncertainties that could have a material impact on the 
Corporation. Readers of the Corporation’s MD&A should carefully consider the risks described under the heading “Risk Factors” in the 
Corporation’s December 31, 2024, AIF, which are specifically incorporated by reference herein. The AIF is available on SEDAR+ at 
www.sedarplus.ca, and copies of the AIF can be obtained on request from the Corporation.  
 
Non-IFRS Measures 
This MD&A contains references to certain financial measures that do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and may not 
be comparable to the same or similar measures used by other companies. High Arctic uses these financial measures to assess performance 
and believes these measures provide useful supplemental information to shareholders and investors. These financial measures are 
computed on a consistent basis for each reporting period and include the following: 
 
Earnings from continuing operations before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA from 
continuing operations”) 
EBITDA from continuing operations is a non-IFRS financial measure that does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and therefore 
may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. EBITDA from continuing operations is defined as net income 
(loss) adjusted for income taxes, interest and finance expense, depreciation and amortization expenses. Management believes that, in 
addition to net income (loss) reported in the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), EBITDA from 
continuing operations is a useful supplemental measure of the Corporation’s performance prior to consideration of how operations are 
financed or how results are taxed or how depreciation and amortization affects results. EBITDA from continuing operations is not intended 
to represent or be construed as an alternative to net income (loss) calculated in accordance with IFRS. Refer to table in Adjusted EBITDA 
from continuing operations below that provides a reconciliation of net income (loss), as disclosed in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income (loss) to EBITDA from continuing operations. 

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations 
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations is a non-IFRS financial measure that does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and 
therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations is defined 
based on EBITDA from continuing operations (as defined above) prior to the effect of share-based compensation, gains or losses on sales 
or purchases of assets or investments, business acquisition costs, impairment charges, equity earnings from investments, foreign exchange 
gains or losses and other costs related to reorganization or restructurings, consolidating facilities or excess of insurance proceeds over 
costs.  

Management believes the addback for these items provides a more comparable measure of the Corporation’s operational financial 
performance between periods. Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations as presented is not intended to represent or be construed as 
an alternative to net income (loss) in accordance with IFRS. 
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The following table provides a quantitative reconciliation of consolidated net income (loss) from continuing operations, as disclosed in 
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), to EBITDA from continuing operations and Adjusted EBITDA from continuing 
operations for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2024, and 2023:  

 Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024 2023 2024  2023 
Net loss from continuing operations (715) 219 (2,117) (989) 
Adjustments to net loss:     
Interest income (86) (553) (1,289) (2,018) 
Interest and finance expense 348 40 535 231 
Accretion on notes receivable (66) (51) (265) (192) 
Income tax expense (recovery) - (916) 9 (911) 
Depreciation and amortization from continuing operations 697 343 2,600 1,568 
EBITDA from continuing operations 178 (918) (527) (2,311) 
Adjustments to EBITDA:     
Share-based compensation expense 21 228 160 496 
Loss (income) from equity investments 396 (352) 690 (803) 
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment (8) (85) 8 (187) 
Gain on sale of nitrogen business - - - (615) 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss  (661) 290 (795) 321 
G&A related to reorganization(1) 207 165 1,259 396 
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations 133 (672) 795 (2,703) 

(1) G&A costs related to the reorganization, net of any recoveries from SpinCo. 
 
Oilfield services operating margin 
Oilfield services operating margin is a non-IFRS financial measure that does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and therefore 
may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. Oilfield services operating margin is used by management to 
analyze overall operating performance. Management believes this non-IFRS financial measure provides useful information to investors 
and others in understanding the Corporation’s operating performance. Oilfield services operating margin is calculated as revenue less 
oilfield services expense. Oilfield services operating margin as presented is not intended to represent or be construed as an alternative to 
revenue or net income (loss) or other measures of financial performance calculated in accordance with IFRS. The table disclosed under 
“Oilfield services operating margin %” below provides a quantitative reconciliation of revenue, as disclosed in the consolidated statements 
comprehensive income (loss), to oilfield services operating margin and oilfield operating margin % for the three and twelve months ended 
December 31, 2024, and 2023. 
 
Oilfield services operating margin %  
Oilfield services operating margin % is a non-IFRS measure in line with oilfield services operating margin discussed above. Oilfield services 
operating margin % is used by management to analyze overall operating performance. Oilfield services operating margin % is calculated 
as oilfield services operating margin divided by revenue. 
 
The following table provides a quantitative calculation of oilfield services operating margin and %: 

 Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise noted) 2024 2023 2024  2023 
Revenue from continuing operations 2,443 1,037 10,470 3,384 
Oilfield services expenses from continuing operations (1,300) (373) (5,263) (1,326) 
Oilfield services operating margin 1,143 664 5,207 2,058 
Oilfield services operating margin % 46.8% 64.0% 49.7% 60.8% 
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Operating income (loss) from continuing operations 
Operating income (loss) from continuing operations is a non-IFRS financial measure that does not have a standardized meaning under 
IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. Operating income (loss) from continuing 
operations is used by management to analyze overall operating performance. Management believes this non-IFRS financial measure 
provides useful information to investors and others in understating the Corporation’s operating performance. Operating income (loss) 
from continuing operations is calculated as revenue less oilfield services expenses, general and administrative expenses, depreciation and 
amortization expenses, and share-based compensation expense. Operating income (loss) from continuing operations as presented is not 
intended to represent or be construed as an alternative to revenue or net earnings (loss) or other measures of financial performance 
calculated in accordance with IFRS.  
The table disclosed below provides a quantitative reconciliation of revenue, as disclosed in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income (loss) to operating income (loss) from continuing operations for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2024, and 
2023: 

 Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024 2023 2024  2023 
Revenue from continuing operations 2,443 1,037 10,470 3,384 
Oilfield services expenses from continuing operations (1,300) (373) (5,263) (1,326) 
G&A expenses from continuing operations (958) (1,501) (5,412) (5,157) 
Depreciation from continuing operations (697) (343) (2,600) (1,568) 
Share-based compensation (21) (228) (160) (496) 
Operating loss from continuing operations (533) (1,408) (2,965) (5,163) 

 
Percentage of revenue 
Certain figures are stated as a percentage of revenue and are used by management to analyze individual components of expenses to 
evaluate the Corporation’s performance from prior periods and to compare its performance to other companies. 
 
Funds flow from continuing operations 
Funds flow from continuing operations is a non-IFRS financial measure that does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and 
therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. Funds flow from continuing operations is defined as 
net cash generated (used in) from continuing operating activities adjusted for changes in non-cash working capital. Management believes 
that, in addition to net cash generated from operating activities as reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash generated 
from operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital adjustments is a useful supplemental measure as it provides an 
indication of the funds generated by High Arctic’s principal business activities prior to consideration of changes in items of working capital.  
This measure is not intended to represent or be construed as an alternative to net cash generated from operating activities as calculated 
in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The following tables provide a quantitative reconciliation of net cash generated from (used in) operating activities, as disclosed in the 
consolidated statements of cash flows, to funds flow from (used in) continuing operations for the three and twelve months ended 
December 31, 2024, and 2023: 

 Three months ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024 2023 2024  2023 
Net cash generated from (used in) continuing operating 
activities 

 
226 

 
(874) 

 
184 

 
(515) 

Less: Changes in non-cash working capital balances - 
operating 

 
(304) 

 
(539) 

 
(300) 

 
777 

Funds flow from (used in) continuing operations 530 (335) 484 (1,292) 
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Working capital 
Working capital is a non-IFRS financial measure that does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and therefore may not be 
comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. Working capital is used by management as another measure to analyze the 
operating liquidity available to the Corporation. It is defined as current assets less current liabilities. Working capital ratio is defined as 
current assets divided by current liabilities. This measure is not intended to represent or be construed as an alternative to current assets 
as calculated in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The following tables provide a quantitative reconciliation of current assets, as disclosed in the consolidated statements of financial position, 
to working capital as at December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

  As at  
Dec 31, 2024 

As at  
Dec 31, 2023 

Current assets    7,221 79,438 
Current liabilities    (4,529) (16,453) 
Working capital   2,692 62,985 
Working capital ratio   1.6:1 4.8:1 

 
Net cash 
Net cash is a non-IFRS financial measure that does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to 
similar measures presented by other entities. Net cash is used by management to analyze the amount by which cash and cash equivalents 
(if applicable) exceed the total amount of long-term debt and bank indebtedness, or vice versa. The amount, if any, is defined as cash and 
cash equivalents less total long-term debt.  
 
The following tables provide a quantitative reconciliation of cash, as disclosed in the consolidated statements of financial position, to net 
cash: 

 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

  As at  
Dec 31, 2024 

As at  
Dec 31, 2023 

Cash and cash equivalents   3,123 50,331 
Less: Long term debt(1)   (3,353) (3,527) 
Net cash   (230) 46,804 

 (1) Long-term debt includes current portion of $175 (December 31, 2023 - $175) and non-current portion of $3,178 (December 31, 2023 - $3,352) 
 
Forward-Looking Statements  
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements.  When used in this document, the words “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “intend”, “plan”, 
“anticipate”, “believe”, “seek”, “propose”, “estimate”, “expect”, and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  
Such statements reflect the Corporation’s current views with respect to future events and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties, and 
assumptions.  Many factors could cause the Corporation’s actual results, performance, or achievements to vary from those described in 
this MD&A. 

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should assumptions underlying forward-looking statements prove 
incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described in this MD&A as intended, planned, anticipated, believed, estimated or 
expected. Specific forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, among others, statements pertaining to the following: general 
economic and business conditions, which will include, among other things, the outlook for the energy industry inclusive of commodity 
prices, producer activity levels and general energy supply and demand fundamentals that may impact the energy industry as a whole; the 
impact (if any) of geo-political events, changes in government, changes to tariff’s or related trade policies and the potential impact on the 
Corporation’s ability to execute its 2025 strategic objectives; fluctuations in interest rates and commodity prices; expectations regarding 
the Corporation’s ability to manage its liquidity risk; raise capital and manage its debt finance agreements; projections of market prices 
and costs; factors upon which the Corporation will decide whether or not to undertake a specific course of operational action or expansion; 
the Corporation’s ongoing relationship with its major customers; the Corporation’s ability to seek and execute accretive acquisitions 
including the timing thereof and the potential operational and financial benefits; the ability to recruit and retain executive officers and 
other key personnel; management of general and administrative costs; the maintenance of a strong balance sheet and related financial 
flexibility; the performance of the Corporation’s investment in Team Snubbing; operational and financial performance of the Corporation’s 
Canadian rental equipment in 2025; scaling the Canadian business, execution on one or more corporate transactions; and estimated credit 
risks. 

With respect to forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A, the Corporation has made assumptions regarding, among other 
things, its ability to: maintain its ongoing relationship with major customers; successfully market its services to current and new customers; 
devise methods for, and achieve its primary objectives; source and obtain equipment from suppliers; successfully manage, operate, and 
thrive in an environment which is facing much uncertainty; remain competitive in all its operations; attract and retain skilled employees; 
obtain equity and debt financing on satisfactory terms and manage its liquidity risk. 
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The Corporation’s actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of the risk 
factors set forth above and elsewhere in this MD&A, along with the risk factors set out in the most recent Annual Information Form filed 
on SEDAR+ at www.sedarplus.ca. 

The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. These 
statements are given only as of the date of this MD&A. The Corporation does not assume any obligation to update these forward-looking 
statements to reflect new information, subsequent events or otherwise, except as required by law. 

 

Abbreviations 
 

 
The following is a summary of abbreviations used in this Management Discussion and Analysis: 
 
AIF  - Annual information form 
AUD  - Australian dollars 
bbl  - Barrel 
CAD  - Canadian dollars 
CLS  - Canadian Light Sweet 
DCP   - Disclosure controls and procedures 
EBITDA  - Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization 
FY  - Financial Year 
ESG  - Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance 
G&A  - General and administrative expenses  
ICFR  - Internal controls over financial reporting 
IFRS   - International Financial Reporting Standards 
MD&A  - Management discussion and analysis 
Nm   - Not meaningful 
mmbtu  - Million British thermal units 
NCIB  - Normal course issuer bid 
OPEC   - Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries 
PNG  - Papua New Guinea 
US  - United States of America 
USD  - United States dollars 
USDCAD   - Exchange rate that represents the amount of CAD required to buy one USD 
WCS  - West Canada Select 
WCSB  - Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin 
WTI  - West Texas Intermediate 
YTD  - Year to date 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of High Arctic Energy Services Inc.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of High Arctic Energy Services Inc. (the Entity), which 
comprise:

• the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023

• the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for the years then ended

• the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended

• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy 
information

(Hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements" section of our auditor’s report.

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our auditor’s 
report.

Assessment of the fair value of the net assets of the legacy High Arctic Papua New Guinea (PNG) business 
distributed as part of the spin-off transaction

Description of the matter

We draw attention to notes 1, 2(d)(xiii), 3(a), and 6 to the financial statements. On August 12, 2024, the Entity 
completed the spin-off transaction in which the assets and liabilities of the legacy High Arctic PNG business were 
spun-out to a new TSX-Venture Exchange listed entity, High Arctic Overseas Holdings Corp. The fair value of the 
net assets of the legacy High Arctic PNG business is determined based upon the present value of its expected 
future cash flows.

The Entity determined the fair value of the net assets of the legacy High Arctic PNG business distributed as part of 
the spin-off transaction to be $39,847 thousand.

The estimated fair value of the PNG business involved significant assumptions including:

• Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) forecast

• Discount rate.

Why the matter is a key audit matter

We identified the assessment of the fair value of the net assets of the legacy High Arctic PNG business distributed 
to shareholders as part of the spin-off transaction as a key audit matter. Significant auditor judgement was required 
to evaluate the determination of the fair value of the net assets of the legacy High Arctic PNG business distributed 
to shareholders, particularly with respect to the EBITDA forecast and discount rate. Additionally, the assessment of 
the fair value of the net assets of the legacy High Arctic PNG business requires the use of professionals with 
specialized skills and knowledge in valuation

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter included the following:

• We compared the actual EBITDA of the legacy High Arctic PNG business for the period ended August 12, 
2024 to the 2024 EBITDA forecast to assess the Entity’s ability to accurately forecast.

• We evaluated the appropriateness of the EBITDA forecast used in the estimate of the fair value of the net 
assets of the legacy High Arctic PNG business distributed by:
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• Comparing the 2024 EBITDA forecast for the legacy High Arctic PNG business to the 2024 budget for 
the legacy High Arctic PNG business to assess consistency with other significant assumptions used by 
the Entity in other estimates used in the financial statements 

• Comparing the 2024 EBITDA forecast for the legacy High Arctic PNG business to historical results, 
taking into account changes in conditions and events to assess the adjustments or lack of adjustments 
made by the Entity in arriving at the 2024 EBITDA forecast

• Comparing certain underlying assumptions for the legacy High Arctic PNG business to certain market 
data.

• We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

• Evaluating the appropriateness of the Entity’s discount rate by comparing the discount rate to market 
and other external data

• Assessing the reasonableness of the Entity’s estimate of the fair value of the net assets of the legacy 
High Arctic PNG business distributed by comparing the Entity’s estimate to market metrics and other 
external data.

Assessment of the recoverable amount of the Canadian Rentals Operations cash generating unit (CGU)
containing goodwill

Description of the matter

We draw attention to notes 2(iii), 2(iv), 3(t), and 11 to the financial statements.  Goodwill is tested at least annually 
for impairment or when an indicator is present. Goodwill is tested for impairment at either the individual or group 
CGU level and is determined based upon the amount of future discounted cash flows generated by the individual 
CGU or group of CGUs compared to the individual CGU or group of CGUs’ respective carrying amounts. Impairment 
exists when the carrying value of a CGU or group of CGUs exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of 
its fair value less costs to dispose and its value in use. At December 31, 2024, the Entity has $812 thousand of 
goodwill contained within the Canadian Rentals Operations CGU. The Entity completed its annual goodwill 
impairment test and no impairment was recorded at December 31, 2024.

The estimated recoverable amount of the Canadian Rentals Operations CGU involved significant estimates 
including:

• Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) forecast
• Discount rate.

Why the matter is a key audit matter

We identified the assessment of the recoverable amount of the Canadian Rentals Operations CGU containing 
goodwill as a key audit matter. Significant auditor judgement was required to evaluate the Canadian Rental 
Operations CGU’s EBITDA forecast and discount rate used to calculate the recoverable amount. Additionally, 
professionals with specialized skills and knowledge in the field of valuation assisted us in performing our audit 
procedures.
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How the matter was addressed in the audit

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter:

• We compared the Canadian Rentals Operations CGU’s actual 2024 EBITDA to the amount budgeted for 2024 
to assess the Entity’s ability to accurately forecast.

We evaluated the appropriateness of the EBITDA forecast used in the estimate of the recoverable amount for the 
Canadian Rentals Operations CGU by:

• Comparing the 2025 EBITDA forecast of the Canadian Rentals Operations CGU to the 2025 budget for the 
CGU to assess consistency with other significant assumptions used by the Entity in other estimates used in the 
financial statements

• Comparing the 2025 EBITDA forecast of the Canadian Rentals Operations CGU to historical results, taking 
into account changes in conditions and events affecting the CGU to assess the adjustments or lack of 
adjustments made by the Entity in arriving at the 2025 EBITDA forecasts

• Comparing certain underlying assumptions in the EBITDA forecast for the Canadian Rentals Operations CGU 
to certain market data.

We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

• Evaluating the appropriateness of the Entity’s discount rate by comparing the discount rate to market and 
other external data

• Assessing the reasonableness of the Entity’s conclusion that the estimate of the recoverable amount 
exceeds the carrying amount of the Canadian Rentals Operations CGU by comparing the Entity’s estimate 
to market metrics and other external data.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the information included in 
Management's Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be 
materially misstated.

We obtained the information included in Management's Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian 
Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other 
information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact in the auditor’s report.
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We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity's ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Entity's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed 
for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

• Determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our auditor’s report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditor’s report is David Yung.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Calgary, Canada
March 31, 2025
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HIGH ARCTIC ENERGY SERVICES INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

 As at December 31, 
2024 2023 

Assets     
Current assets      

Cash and cash equivalents   3,123 50,331 
Accounts receivable (Note 7)  2,749 17,468 
Inventory   66 9,378 
Prepaid expenses and other   221 851 
Current portion of notes receivable (Note 8)  1,062 745 
Income tax receivable   - 665 
  7,221 79,438 

Non-current assets      
Property and equipment (Note 9)  10,599 27,554 
Right of use assets (Note 10(a))  1,204 2,655 
Intangible assets (Note 11)  1,510 1,501 
Goodwill (Notes 5 ,11)  812 812 
Notes receivable (Note 8)  2,029 2,995 
Equity investments (Note 12)  7,492 8,182 
  23,646 43,699 

 Total assets  30,867 123,137 
 
Liabilities 

   

Current liabilities    
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 13)  2,741 14,134 
Long-term debt (Note 14)  175 175 
Lease liabilities (Note 10(b))  368 959 
Contingent consideration payable (Note 15)  1,245 812 
Income tax payable  - 373 

   4,529 16,453 
  Non-current liabilities      

Long-term debt (Note 14)  3,178 3,352 
Lease liabilities (Note 10(b))  943 1,860 
Contingent consideration payable (Note 15)  1,112 2,140 
  5,233 7,352 

 Total liabilities  9,762 23,805 
 
Shareholders’ Equity 

   

Share capital (Note 16(a))  133,153 169,992 
Contributed surplus  13,156 14,550 
Accumulated and other comprehensive income (loss)  (1,478) 26,980 
Deficit  (123,726) (112,190) 
   21,105 99,332 
 Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  30,867 123,137 

Subsequent event (Note 24). 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
 

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors, 

 
(Signed) “Douglas Strong”     (Signed) “Simon Batcup” 
Douglas Strong, Director     Simon Batcup, Director 
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   HIGH ARCTIC ENERGY SERVICES INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) and COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

 

  Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)   2024  2023 
Revenue (Note 22)   10,470 3,384 
Oilfield services expenses (Note 18)   (5,263) (1,326) 
General and administrative expenses (Note 18)   (5,412) (5,157) 
Depreciation and amortization expenses (Notes 9, 10(a), 11)   (2,600) (1,568) 
Share-based compensation expense (Note 17)   (160) (496) 
Operating loss   (2,965) (5,163) 
     
Interest and other income   1,289 2,018 
Interest and finance expenses (Note 18)   (535) (231) 
Accretion income on notes receivable    265 192 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)   795 (321) 
Gain (loss) on sale of property and equipment   (8) 187 
Gain on sale of nitrogen business (Notes 6, 9)   - 615 
Fair value adjustment to contingent consideration (Note 15)    (259) - 
Income (loss) from equity investments (Note 12)   (690) 803 
Loss before income tax from continuing operations   (2,108) (1,900) 

Income tax expense (Note 20)   (9) (4) 

Deferred income tax recovery   - 915 

Income tax recovery (expense) from continuing operations   (9) 911 
Net loss from continuing operations   (2,117) (989) 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations (Note 6)   30,428 (12,150) 
Net income (loss)   28,311 (13,139) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income (loss):     

     Foreign currency translation gain (loss) for foreign operations   228 (873) 
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year   28,539 (14,012) 

 

  Year ended December 31,  
   2024 2023 
Income (loss) per share: (Note 16)     
Continuing operations:     
        Basic and diluted  

   
($0.17) 

 
($0.08) 

Discontinued operations:  
        Basic 

   
$2.46 

 
($1.00) 

        Diluted   $2.43 ($1.00) 

  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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HIGH ARCTIC ENERGY SERVICES INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
   

(thousands of Canadian 
Dollars, except number of 
common shares) 

Number of 
common 

shares Share capital 
Contributed 

surplus 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) Deficit 

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 
Balance, December 31, 2022 (1) 12,172,958 169,554 14,685 27,853 (96,861) 115,231 
Share-based compensation 

expense (Note 17) - - 496 - - 496 
Purchase of common shares 

for cancellation (4,574) (64) 39 - - (25) 
Dividends - - - - (2,190) (2,190) 
Exercise of performance share 

units 112,184 502 (502) - - - 
Other comprehensive loss – 

foreign currency translation 
loss - - - (873) - (873) 

Share-based payment 
transaction 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(168) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(168) 

Net loss for the year from 
continuing operations 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(989) 

 
(989) 

Net loss for the year from 
discontinued operations 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(12,150) 

 
(12,150) 

Balance, December 31, 2023 12,280,568 169,992 14,550 26,980 (112,190) 99,332 
       
       
Balance, December 31, 2023 12,280,568 169,992 14,550 26,980 (112,190) 99,332 
Share-based compensation 

expense (Note 17) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

160 
 

- 
 

- 
 

160 
Distribution – return of capital - (37,842) - - - (37,842) 
Other comprehensive income –    

foreign currency translation 
gain 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
228 

 
- 228 

Exercise of performance share 
units 70,545 422 (422) - - - 

Exercise of deferred share units 97,053 581 (1,132) - - (551) 
Net loss for the year from 

continuing operations 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(2,117) 
 

(2,117) 
Reclassification of AOCI to net 

income from discontinued 
operations 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

(28,686) 

 
 

- 

 
 

(28,686) 
Net income for the year from 

discontinued operations 
 

- - - - 30,428 30,428 
Balances removed in relation 

to distribution to SpinCo - - - - (39,847) (39,847) 
Balance, December 31, 2024 12,448,166 133,153 13,156 (1,478) (123,726) 21,105 

(1) Pursuant to the de facto four-to-one consolidation of the Corporation’s outstanding common shares effective August 12, 2024, the number of common 
shares outstanding have been retroactively adjusted to effect the stock consolidation. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HIGH ARCTIC ENERGY SERVICES INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

  Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)   2024 2023 
 
Cash flows from operating activities:  

    

Net loss from continuing operations   (2,117) (989) 
Adjustments for:     

Depreciation and amortization expenses (Notes 9, 10(a), 11)   2,600 1,568 
Deferred income tax recovery   - (915) 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)   (816) 481 
Share-based compensation expense (Note 17)   160 496 
Non-cash interest and accretion income on notes receivable   (123) (192) 
Non-cash finance expense   374 32 
Fair value adjustment to contingent consideration (Note 15)   259 - 
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment    8 (187) 
Gain on sale of nitrogen business (Notes 6, 9)   - (615) 
Share-based compensation payment (Note 17)   (551) (168) 
Loss (income) from equity investments (Note 12)   690 (803) 

Funds from (used in) operating activities from continuing operations   484 (1,292) 
Change in non-cash working capital (Note 19)   (300) 777 
Cash from (used in) operating activities from continuing operations   184 (515) 
Cash from operating activities from discontinued operations (Note 6)   14,090 11,731 
Net cash from operating activities   14,274 11,216 
      

Cash flows from investing activities:     

Property and equipment and intangibles expenditures (Notes 9, 10)   (1,947) (501) 
Business combination (Notes 5)   - (3,430) 
Proceeds from asset sales, net of costs   178 29,569 
Payments received on notes receivable (Note 8)   772 - 
Net cash from (used in) investing activities from continuing operations   (997) 25,638 
Cash used in investing activities from discontinued operations (Note 6)   (22,097) (1,429) 
Net cash from (used in) investing activities   (23,094) 24,209 
     

Cash flows from financing activities:     
Purchase of common shares for cancellation (Note 16)   - (25) 
Equity investment dividend (Note 12)   - 360 
Repayment of long-term debt (Note 14)   (175) (687) 
Dividend payments   - (2,190) 
Distribution, return of capital   (37,842) - 
Lease obligation payments (Note 10(b))   (349) (182) 
Change in non-cash working capital (Note 19)   (293) (243) 
Net cash used in financing activities from continuing operations    (38,659) (2,967) 
Cash used in financing activities from discontinued operations (Note 6)   (446) (966) 
Net cash used in financing activities   (39,105) (3,933) 
 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes   717 (720) 
Total change in cash and cash equivalents   (47,208) 30,772 

Total cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   50,331 19,559 
 
Total cash and cash equivalents, end of year 

  
3,123 50,331 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



2024 | CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  5 HIGH ARCTIC ENERGY SERVICES 

 

HIGH ARCTIC ENERGY SERVICES INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Stated in Thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

1. Nature of business 

High Arctic Energy Services Inc. (“High Arctic” or the “Corporation”) is incorporated under the laws of Alberta, Canada and is a publicly 
traded corporation listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “HWO”. High Arctic provides pressure control equipment 
and equipment supporting the high-pressure stimulation of oil and gas wells and other oilfield equipment on a rental basis to 
exploration and production companies in Canada. The Corporation’s head office address is located at Suite 2350, 330 – 5th Ave SW 
Calgary, Canada T2P 0L4.  

As at December 31, 2024, 5,479,159 common shares of the Corporation were owned by FBC Holdings S.A.R.L., representing 44.0% of 
the outstanding common shares. In addition, High Arctic directors and officers collectively own 891,970 common shares, representing 
7.2% of the outstanding common shares.  

On June 17, 2024, the Corporation held its Annual and Special General Meeting where the Corporation’s shareholders approved, 
amongst other things, a special resolution approving a reorganization of the Corporation by way of a plan of arrangement (“the 
Arrangement”) and a return of capital of $0.76 per pre-Arrangement common share of High Arctic. The reorganization was completed 
on August 12, 2024, and resulted in the spin-off of the Corporation’s former PNG business to High Arctic shareholders through a new 
publicly listed entity High Arctic Overseas Holdings Corp. (“SpinCo”) that trades on the TSX Venture Exchange under the trading symbol 
HOH. The approved return of capital of $0.76 per pre-Arrangement common share of High Arctic was distributed to shareholders on 
July 17, 2024. Finally, as part of the Arrangement, the Corporation effected a de facto four-to-one share consolidation whereby each 
High Arctic shareholder received one-quarter of one post-Arrangement common share for every pre-Arrangement common share 
held prior to August 12, 2024. 

On December 28, 2023, High Arctic completed the acquisition of all the shares of Delta Rental Services Ltd. (“Delta”) for cash 
consideration of $3,430 and contingent consideration of $2,952 (Notes 5, 15) that includes a combination of cash and shares, payable 
over a three-year period. As a result of this acquisition, goodwill of $812 and intangible assets of $1,501 (Note 11) were recognized. 

On June 19, 2023, High Arctic entered into an agreement to sell its Canadian Nitrogen transportation, hauling and pumping services 
business (the “Nitrogen Transaction”) for cash consideration of $1,350. The transaction closed on July 31, 2023 (see Note 6(b)). 

During 2022, High Arctic sold its well-servicing assets for cash consideration of $38,200 of which $28,000 was received in Q1 2023. 

The following table lists the Corporation’s subsidiaries and significant corporate holdings. The jurisdiction of formation or incorporation 
of such subsidiaries or significant corporate holdings and the percentage of shares owned, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation as 
at December 31, 2024 is as follows: 

Name of subsidiary or significant corporate holding 

Jurisdiction of 
formation or 
incorporation 

Percentage ownership of shares 
beneficially owned or controlled 
(in) directly by the Corporation 

HAES SD Holding Corp. Alberta 100% 
Powerstroke Well Control, Inc. United States (“US”) 100% 
Seh’ Chene GP Inc.  Alberta 49% 
Seh’ Chene Well Services Limited Partnership Alberta 49% 
Team Snubbing Services Inc. Alberta 42% 
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2. Basis of Presentation 

(a) Statement of compliance and approval 
These consolidated financial statements (“Financial Statements”) have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. These Financial Statements were authorized for issuance by the 
Board of Directors on March 31, 2025. 

(b) Basis of preparation 
These Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis using the historical cost convention except as disclosed in 
Note 3. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars, which is also the currency of the primary economic operating environment 
(“functional currency”) of the parent company. 
 
The US Dollar is the functional currency of one of the Corporation’s subsidiaries. 
 
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000), except where otherwise indicated. 

(d) Judgments, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Corporation’s Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities as at the date of the Financial 
Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and judgements are 
continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. The accounting policies 
and practices that involve the use of estimates and judgements that have a significant impact on the Corporation’s financial results 
include expected credit loss (“ECL”), functional currency, identification of cash generating units (“CGUs”), impairment of property and 
equipment, business combinations, joint arrangements, inventory obsolescence provision, equity investments, long-term debt, notes 
receivable, depreciation, amortization of intangible assets, share-based compensation and disposal of non-current assets and 
businesses.  

Critical accounting judgements and estimates:  

Significant judgements and estimates are used in the application of accounting policies that have been identified as being complex 
and involving subjective judgements and assessments. They include: 

i) ECL  

The Corporation estimates the amount of ECL for trade receivables with no financing component using a provision matrix. 
The provision matrix is based on historical loss experience and is adjusted for forward looking estimates based on current 
and future economic conditions using internal and externally sourced data. Judgement is required when applying this 
information to the ECL and any adjustments as a result of this new information.  

The Corporation uses the simplified approach of the ECL model for trade receivables with no significant financing component 
which requires measuring the loss allowance at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL at initial recognition and throughout its 
life. 

ii) Functional currency  

The determination of functional currency is based on the primary economic environment (including monetary policy) in 
which an entity operates. The functional currency of an entity reflects the underlying transactions, events and conditions 
that are relevant to the entity.  

iii)   Identification of CGUs and impairment of property and equipment 

Property and equipment are tested for impairment when events and or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable which involves both judgement and estimation. For the purpose of measuring recoverable 
amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows, defined as CGUs.  

The classification of assets and allocation of corporate assets in CGUs requires significant judgement and interpretation. 
Further, the factors considered in CGU classification include the integration between assets, shared infrastructures, the 
existence of common sales points, geography and the way management monitors and makes decisions about its operations. 
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As such, the determination of a CGU involves considerable judgement and could have a significant impact on impairment 
losses and reversals.  

The assessment of impairment or impairment reversal indicators is based on significant judgment regarding whether there 
are internal and external factors that would indicate that a cash generating unit, and specifically the non-financial assets 
within the cash generating unit, either are impaired or are no longer impaired. These factors include revenue and earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (”EBITDA”) forecasts, expected industry activity levels, commodity price 
developments and market capitalization. At December 31, 2024, and following the completion of the Arrangement, the 
Corporation has one CGU called Canadian Rental Operations.  

The recoverable amount is the higher of a CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use (being the present value 
of the expected future cash flows of the relevant CGU). The determination of the recoverable amount of a CGU requires 
significant assumptions to be made by the Corporation on the discount rates and EBITDA forecasts, using estimates of 
revenue, operating costs, expected utilization, rates and costs of available equipment (margin), and terminal values. An 
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its expected recoverable amount. 

iv) Business combinations – goodwill and intangible assets  

The Corporation measures the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and consideration paid in a business combination at fair 
value at the date of acquisition. Estimates and assumptions are used to calculate these fair values and changes to 
assumptions can have a significant impact on the determined fair values of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and 
consideration paid, which in turn can impact the amount recorded as goodwill or gain on acquisition.  

v) Joint arrangements  

Judgement is required to assess whether joint arrangements incorporate joint rights to the assets and obligations of the 
arrangement and/or how the details of the arrangement suggest that a joint venture or joint operation results.  

vi) Inventory obsolescence provision  

The Corporation measures inventories at the lower of the cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories may not be 
recoverable if inventories are damaged or can no longer be used in the field and therefore obsolete. Judgement is required 
when determining which inventory requires a provision for obsolescence. The Corporation inspects inventory throughout 
the year and adjusts provisions for obsolete inventory each reporting period. Inventory that is identified as damaged or 
obsolete is eventually scrapped and removed from the inventory listing. 

vii) Equity investments  

Equity investments are classified into two categories: investments in associates and joint ventures. Investments in associates 
are companies in which an entity has significant influence, defined in IFRS 10 – “Consolidated Financial Statements” as the 
power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of the investee, but not control. In this case, the equity method 
of accounting is used, as outlined in IAS 28 – “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”, to recognize its share of the 
investee’s profit or loss in the investor’s financial statements. On the other hand, joint ventures are businesses that are jointly 
controlled by the investor and other venturers. The equity method is also applied in this case, as the investor recognizes its 
share of the joint venture’s profits and losses.  

viii) Long-term debt and notes receivable  

Long-term debt and notes receivable are treated as financial liabilities and financial assets respectively and are measured at 
initial recognition at fair value, including transaction costs, if any. The subsequent measurement of these financial 
instruments depends on their classification as either fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) or amortized 
cost. If classified as FVOCI, the financial instrument is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other 
comprehensive income. If classified as amortized cost, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method, this involves calculating the discount rate that reflects the market conditions at the time of initial recognition and 
the terms of the financial instrument. The effective interest rate is then applied to the carrying amount of the financial 
instrument to determine the interest expense or income recognized in the profit or loss over the life of the instrument. 

ix) Depreciation  

Depreciation of the Corporation’s property and equipment incorporates estimates of useful lives, salvage values and 
depreciation methodology that is estimated to best reflect usage. Equipment under construction is not depreciated until it 
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is available for use. All equipment is depreciated based on the straight-line method over the asset’s useful life in years. 
Estimated useful lives detail are presented in Note 3(h).  

x) Amortization of intangible assets  

Amortization of the Corporation’s intangibles assets incorporates estimates of each intangible assets’ useful life and an 
amortization methodology that is estimated to best reflect usage. All intangibles are amortized based on the straight-line 
method over the asset’s useful life in years.  

xi) Share-based compensation  

The fair value of stock options, performance and deferred share units are estimated at the grant date using the Black-
Scholes-Merton option pricing model, which includes underlying assumptions related to the risk-free interest rate, average 
expected option life, dividend yield, estimated forfeitures, and estimated volatility of the Corporation’s shares.  

xii) Disposal of non-current assets  

Once a disposal group is identified as held for sale, all associated assets are reclassified as current and presented separately 
in the statement of financial position. In addition, any liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale are also 
reclassified and presented as a separate financial statement line item. An asset or disposal group identified as held for sale 
may also be considered a discontinued operation if a component of an entity is disposed. A component must comprise 
operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished operationally and for financial reporting purposes. A component 
must also represent a major line of business or a geographical segment. Judgment is required in determining whether an 
asset or disposal group identified as held for sale is considered a discontinued operation.  

As disclosed in Notes 1 and 6, in 2023 High Arctic sold its nitrogen transportation, hauling and pumping business. The 
Corporation applies judgement to determine whether a component of the Corporation that either has been disposed of, or 
is classified as held for sale, meets the criteria of a discontinued operation. The key area that involves management 
judgement in this determination is whether the component represents a separate major line of business. There were no 
retained liabilities directly associated with the sale of this business and management determined that this represented a 
major line of business for the Corporation. As such, the Corporation has accounted for Nitrogen Transaction as a 
discontinued operation.  

xiii) Reorganization and spin-off of PNG business (“spin-off”) 
As disclosed in Notes 1 and 6, on May 11, 2024, the Corporation announced its plans to proceed with its intended 
reorganization and filed the Arrangement and other documents that were subsequently approved by the Corporation's 
shareholders at an Annual and Special General Meeting held on June 17, 2024. 

 
On August 12, 2024, the Corporation completed its intended reorganization and as a result the assets and liabilities of the 
legacy High Arctic PNG business have been removed from the Corporation’s statement of financial position and distributed 
to SpinCo. Details of the legacy High Arctic PNG business’ operating results and resultant cash flows for the period of 2024 
July 1, 2024 to August 12, 2024 and for the period January 1, 2024 to August 12, 2024 are presented as discontinued 
operations in the Corporation’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows and further detailed 
in Note 6. 

The fair value of the net assets of the legacy High Arctic PNG business is based upon the present value of its expected future 
cash flows. The determination of the fair value requires significant assumptions to be made by the Corporation on the 
discount rates and EBITDA forecasts using estimates of revenue, operating costs, expected utilization, rates and costs of 
available equipment, and terminal values. A gain (loss) is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
net assets exceeds (falls short of) its fair value. 

(e) Re-presentation of comparatives  
In June 2023, the Corporation agreed to sell its Canadian Nitrogen transportation, hauling and pumping services business. Accordingly, 
and in addition to the 2024 reorganization that saw the spinout of the PNG business, certain comparative figures of these Consolidated 
Financial Statements have been re-presented to present operations of High Arctic’s legacy PNG business and its legacy Canadian 
Nitrogen transportation, hauling and pumping services business as discontinued operations (Note 6). 

Geo-political, economic and environmental developments and impact on estimation uncertainty  

The conflict between Russia and Ukraine, which began in early 2022, has created significant political uncertainty globally. The war has 
contributed to global oil and gas price volatility, making it even more challenging for companies operating in the industry to accurately 
forecast future trends and plan accordingly. The imposition of increasingly strict international sanctions on Russia has created 
additional political uncertainty and tension. The conflict also created challenges for energy demand in Europe, as the region has relied 
heavily on energy imports from Russia in the past. The uncertainty created by the continuation of the Russia-Ukraine war has far-
reaching consequences for the global oil and gas industry and continues to create uncertainty on prices and future investments.  
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In 2022, inflation emerged as a major challenge for economies worldwide, leading to a significant increase in prices and reducing 
purchasing power. This uncertainty in the marketplace created a host of difficulties for consumers, businesses, and governments. In 
response to inflation, central banks around the world implemented monetary policy measures aimed at controlling inflation and 
maintaining price stability. Most central banks increased interest rates in 2022 aimed at slowing the rate of inflation, which made 
borrowing more expensive. The impact of inflation on the economy has been felt by all participants, as rising prices over the past two 
years have made it more difficult to afford goods and services, leading to a decrease in real income. The uncertainty created by inflation 
has also made it more challenging for businesses to make long-term plans and investments, and for consumers to budget effectively. 
Inflation continues to create significant challenges for economies worldwide, highlighting the need for policymakers to closely monitor 
their economies and implement measures aimed at maintaining price stability. Toward the end of 2023 and through 2024 the effects 
of inflation have abated to a degree, and some economies have slowed and entered technical recessions. It is expected that the impacts 
of inflation will remain a key concern for economies worldwide and policymakers into the future.  

Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) refers to a set of non-financial factors that businesses consider in their operations and 
investments. ESG has gained significant importance to investors and other stakeholders in recent years, especially in the extractive 
energy industries, due to the carbon-intensive nature of activities and products. Companies are facing increased pressure from 
stakeholders to reduce their carbon footprint, improve their environmental performance, and promote good governance. ESG is also 
attracting the attention of lawmakers, as governments across the world implement legislation aimed at reducing carbon emissions. In 
the coming years, it is expected that ESG will play an increasingly important role and companies that fail to integrate ESG considerations 
into their operations and investments will face significant challenges. The global focus to address climate change has seen some 
investment capital move away from the extractive energy industries in certain markets with the potential to increase High Arctic’s cost 
of capital and reduce access to growth funding. 

The recent volatility in the financial markets has impacted the general availability of both credit and equity financing in the marketplace. 
World-wide political and economic risks are also intensifying, including the significant shift in US foreign policy and the use and threat 
of tariffs to achieve political and economic objectives. Should there be significant economic contraction as a result of changes to US 
foreign policy, if the conflict in Ukraine escalates or expands beyond Ukraine's borders, if the conflict in the Middle East escalates, or 
if tensions between China and the US develop into a more significant trade and economic dispute, this could have a significant impact 
not only on High Arctic’s cost of capital, but also on supply chains and demand for the Corporation’s services. 

 
3. Material accounting policies  

(a) Basis of consolidation  

The Financial Statements include the accounts of High Arctic and its subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions, 
including unrealized gains or losses between subsidiaries are eliminated upon consolidation. Subsidiaries are entities controlled 
by the Corporation. Control exists when High Arctic has the ability to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity to 
enable the receipt of the benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights currently exercisable are 
considered. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the Financial Statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases.  

When the Corporation loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related 
non-controlling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.  Any interest 
retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. 

(b) Business combinations  

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and assets that meet the definition of a business under IFRS are accounted for using the acquisition 
method. The consideration paid for each acquisition is measured at the date of exchange as the aggregate of the fair value of 
assets given up, equity instruments issued by the Corporation and liabilities assumed. Any contingent consideration payable is 
also measured at fair value. Contingent consideration payable that is classified as equity is not re-measured and settlement is 
accounted for as equity. Otherwise, substantive changes in the fair value of contingent consideration payable is recognized in 
profit and loss. 

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value except for deferred income taxes which 
are measured in accordance with their applicable IFRS. Any shortfall of the fair value of the identifiable net assets below the 
consideration paid is recognized as goodwill and any surplus of the fair value of the identifiable net assets relative to the 
consideration paid is recorded as a gain on acquisition. Transaction costs associated with an acquisition, other than those relating 
to the issuance of debt and equity instruments are expensed as incurred.  

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination 
occurs, the Corporation reports preliminary amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those preliminary 
amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect 
new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, that if known, would have 
materially affected the amounts recognized as of that date. The measurement period can be up to a maximum of one year and 
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is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Corporation obtains complete information about facts and circumstances 
that existed as of the acquisition date.  

(c)  Foreign currency  

i. Functional currency:  

Items included in the financial statements of each subsidiary of the Corporation are measured using their functional 
currencies, as dictated by their operating environment.  

ii. Foreign operations:  

The financial statements of subsidiaries that have a functional currency different from that of the Corporation (“foreign 
operations”) are translated into Canadian dollars as follows:  

• assets and liabilities – at the closing rate at the date of the statement of financial position; and  
• income and expenses – at the rate on the date of the transaction and/or the average rate during the period 

(where it approximates the rate at the date of the transaction).  

All changes resulting from applying the closing rate to the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are recognized as gains 
or losses as part of other comprehensive income.  

iii. Transactions and balances:  

Transactions that take place within an entity that are denominated in a different currency are translated into that entity’s 
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date the transactions take place. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than an operation’s functional currency, are recognized in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) as foreign exchange gains or losses.  

(d) Joint arrangements  

When joint arrangements are entered, the Corporation determines whether it constitutes a joint venture or joint operation. Joint 
ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, with income recorded in net earnings (loss). Joint operations 
are recorded using proportionate consolidation. 

(e) Revenue recognition  
Revenue is recognized from a variety of sources. In general, revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a 
contract with a customer based upon an agreed transaction price. The Corporation’s revenue is generated from short-term or 
spot market contracts and long-term arrangements. As referenced in Note 21 regarding economic dependence, large customers 
often have contract durations greater than one year and can include customers in both Canada and PNG.  
 
Contract drilling services include contracts for individual drilling rig packages that include crews and contracts for specialist 
drilling related services.  
 
Revenue is recognized over time from spud to rig release on a daily basis, using day rates based on contract specified amounts, 
and may include fixed fee or time-based compensation for the initial location of the drilling rig on the well site and its removal 
after release.  
 
Revenue from well completion and production services including well servicing, workover and snubbing is typically recognized 
based on daily or hourly rates as stipulated in the contracts with the customer. 

Revenue for oilfield equipment rentals, including mats, is recognized using daily or monthly rates determined within the contracts.  

A portion of the Corporation’s revenue is lease revenue and not within the scope of IFRS 15 – “Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers”, as such portions of revenue received represent the customers’ ability to direct the use of an asset belonging to the 
Corporation. The Corporation has applied judgement to determine the amount of revenue that relates to lease revenue when 
lease rates were not specifically identified.  

The Corporation recognizes the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred if the related contract is 
one year or less.  

The Corporation’s revenue transactions do not contain significant financing components and the Corporation does not adjust 
transaction prices for the effects of a significant financing component when the period between the transfer of the promised 
service to the customer and the payment by the customer is less than one year. The Corporation does not disclose information 
related to performance obligations that have an original duration of one year or less.  
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(f) Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less. 
 
(g) Financial instruments  
Financial assets and liabilities are classified and measured at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVTOCI”) or fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), depending on the nature of the instrument. The classification is generally 
based on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset or liability. Financial assets held to collect principal and interest 
cash flows on specified dates are measured at amortized cost.  
 
Investments in share equity of other third parties are initially recognized at fair value and classified as FVTPL or FVTOCI. If 
designated as FVTOCI, all changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). Upon disposal of such 
investment, the cumulative OCI recorded is reclassified to retained earnings. Dividends from such investments are recognized in 
earnings or loss as other income when the Corporation’s right to receive payments is established.  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.  
 
The fair value hierarchy establishes three levels to classify the inputs for valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows:  

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
• Level 2 inputs are quoted prices in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, 
inputs other than quotes prices that are observable for the asset or liability, or inputs that are derived principally from or 
corroborated by observable market data or other means; and  
• Level 3 inputs are unobservable (supported by little or no market activity).  

 
The fair value hierarchy gives highest priority to level 1 inputs and lowest priority to level 3 inputs. The Corporation has level 1 
inputs, such as cash and cash equivalents, and level 2 inputs such as accounts receivable, notes receivable, accounts payable and 
long-term debt. The Corporation has no level 3 inputs. 
 
The following table provides a summary of the classification and measurement basis applicable for the Corporation’s non-
derivative financial instruments:  
 

Instrument      Initial measurement Subsequent measurement  
Financial assets    

Notes receivable Fair value Amortized cost (1) 
   
Financial liabilities (2)    

Lease liabilities Fair value Amortized cost (1) 
Contingent consideration payable Fair value Fair value 
Long-term debt Fair value Amortized cost (1) 

 
(1) Amortized cost using an effective interest rate.  
(2) All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and loans and borrowings are recorded net of directly attributable transaction costs.  
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, High Arctic did not have any derivative financial instruments. 
 
(h) Property and equipment  
Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits through increased capability or performance associated with the 
item will flow to the Corporation, and the cost can be measured reliably. Repair and maintenance costs are charged to net 
earnings (loss) during the period in which they are incurred.  
 
Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are the result of the difference between proceeds obtained compared 
to the carrying amount of the asset disposed of and are included as part of gains and losses on sale of property and equipment 
in net earnings (loss).  
 
Depreciation is calculated on the depreciable amount which is the carrying cost of an asset less its salvage value and recognized 
in net earnings (loss) over the estimated useful life of the asset. The Corporation allocates the amount initially recognized in 
respect of an item of property and equipment to its significant components and depreciates separately each such component. 
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The calculation of depreciation includes assumptions related to useful lives and residual values and is reviewed annually and 
adjusted if appropriate, on a prospective basis. The assumptions are based on experience with similar assets and are subject to 
change as new information becomes available. 
 
Property and equipment are depreciated and right of use assets are amortized as follows: 

 
Asset type 

 
Expected life 

 
Salvage value 

 
Basis of depreciation 

Property and equipment:     
Drilling rigs 5-15 years Up to 10% Straight line 
Support and shop 7-10 years Up to 5% Straight line 
Drilling support equipment 7-10 years Up to 5% Straight line 
Hydraulic workover  7-10 years Up to 5% Straight line 
Snubbing rigs 7-10 years Up to 5% Straight line 
Rentals and matting 5-10 years Up to 5% Straight line 
Light vehicles and trailers 5-10 years Up to 5% Straight line 
Heavy trucks 7-10 years Up to 5% Straight line 
Buildings 20-25 years Up to 10% Straight line 
Office equipment and computer hardware 3-5 years Up to 5% Straight line 

Right of use assets:     
Real estate 1-12 years Nil Straight line 
Vehicles Lessor of lease term or 5 years Up to 15% Straight line 

 
 
(i) Inventory  

Inventory consists primarily of operating supplies and spare parts not held for sale and are valued at the lower of average cost 
and net realizable value. Inventory is charged to oilfield services expense as items are consumed at the weighted average cost of 
the item. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less estimated selling costs. A regular review is undertaken to determine the 
extent of any obsolescence for which a provision is required. 

(j) Impairment of assets  

• Impairment of financial assets  

The Corporation’s accounts receivable is recorded net of ECL, using the simplified approach in estimating the lifetime ECL, taking 
into consideration historical industry default rates as well as credit ratings and the current financial condition of specific customers.  

• Impairment of non-financial assets  

The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together 
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or groups of assets. These are called CGUs and judgement is required to aggregate assets into their appropriate 
CGU. If indicators exist, impairment is recognized for the amount by which the cash generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount for a CGU is determined as the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal, and 
its value in use.  

Recoverable amounts are typically calculated using a discounted cash flow model. Value in use calculations estimate future cash 
flows, discounted to their present value, using a before-tax discount rate reflecting current market conditions specific to the risk 
inherent in the assets in the CGU. If the carrying amount of the CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
charged to earnings (loss) such that the recorded value of the CGU is no greater than its recoverable amount.  

A previously recognized impairment loss is required to be reversed if there has been a change in circumstances and/or estimates 
used to determine the CGU’s recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount has increased since the time that the impairment 
loss was recorded, the carrying amount of the CGU is increased, but only up to its recoverable amount. Further, the amount of 
impairment reversal cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the CGU while impaired. Such impairment reversal is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income (loss). 
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(k) Share-based and bonus compensation  

Share-based plans:  

• Stock option plan  

The Corporation has a stock option plan that provides incentives for directors, management, and certain employees. Options 
granted are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.  

The fair value determined at the grant date of the stock options is recognized as an employee benefit expense, with a 
corresponding increase in contributed surplus, over the vesting period based on the Corporation’s estimate of stock options that 
will eventually vest. At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation revises its estimate of the number of stock options 
expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized immediately.  

When the options are exercised, the Corporation issues common shares. The proceeds received plus the amount of the previously 
recognized benefit recorded in contributed surplus are credited to share capital.  

• Performance share unit plan  

The Corporation has a Performance Share Unit Plan (“PSUP”) under which the Corporation may grant restricted share units 
(“RSUs”) and/or performance share units (“PSUs”) to its employees. PSUs typically have performance vesting conditions which, 
unless otherwise directed by the Board of Directors, vest one-third on each of the first, second and third anniversaries from the 
date of the grant.  

The fair value of the RSUs and PSUs issued is equal to the Corporation’s five-day weighted average share price on the grant date. 
The fair value is expensed over the vesting term on a graded vesting basis.  

PSU and RSU holders are entitled to dividends on any date a cash dividend is paid on the Corporation’s common shares.  

Holders will be credited with a dividend equivalent in the form of a number of PSUs or RSUs calculated by multiplying the amount 
of the dividend per common share by the aggregate number of PSUs or RSUs that were credited to the participant’s account as 
of the record date for payment of the dividend and dividing that amount by the fair market value on the date on which the 
dividend is paid.  

The PSUs and RSUs are treated as equity-settled share-based compensation and compensation expense is recognized on issued 
units as vesting occurs, at fair value, with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus.  

• Deferred share units  

The Corporation has awarded Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”) to non-employee directors of the Corporation. DSUs awarded vest 
immediately and provide participants the right to receive, at the election of the Corporation, common shares or a cash payment 
equal to the five-day volume weighted average price of the Corporation’s common shares. DSU holders are also entitled to 
dividends and on any date a cash dividend is paid on the Corporation’s common shares. DSU holders will be credited with a 
dividend equivalent in the form of a number of DSUs calculated by multiplying the amount of the dividend per common share 
by the aggregate number of DSUs that were credited to the participant’s account as of the record date for payment of the 
dividend and dividing that amount by the fair market value on the date on which the dividend is paid.  

The DSUs are treated as equity-settled share-based compensation and compensation expense is recognized when the DSUs are 
issued, using fair values, with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus.  

Bonus compensation:  

The Corporation recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses expected to be paid to employees based on various formulae 
that take into consideration operating earnings and other factors attributable to the financial and operational performance of the 
Corporation. The Corporation recognizes a provision where contractually obligated or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation.  

(l) Share capital  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares are recognized as a reduction from equity.  

(m) Dividends  

Dividends on common shares, if declared, are recognized in the Corporation’s Financial Statements in the period in which the 
dividends are approved by the Board of Directors.  
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(n) Provisions  

Provisions for legal claims and other obligations, where applicable, are recognized when the Corporation has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period and are discounted to present value where the 
effect is material.  

The Corporation is involved in legal claims through the normal course of operations, and these are recorded and/or disclosed as 
any other provision. The Corporation believes that any liabilities that may arise from such matters to the extent not provided for, 
are not likely to have a material effect on the Financial Statements.  

(o) Income tax  

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in earnings (loss) except 
to the extent that it relates to the items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income (loss).  

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted at the 
reporting date in the jurisdictions where the Corporation operates.  

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes, and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for temporary differences relating 
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on 
the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on 
a net basis, or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.  

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

(p) Net earnings (loss) per share  

The Corporation presents basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) data for its common shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the net earnings or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Corporation by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined using the treasury stock method, whereby net 
earnings or loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding is 
adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. The treasury stock method assumes any proceeds obtained on 
the exercise of equity-based compensation arrangements would be used to purchase common shares at the average market 
price during the period. The weighted average number of shares outstanding is then adjusted by the difference between the 
number of shares issued from the exercise of equity-based compensation arrangements and shares repurchased from the related 
proceeds. 

(q) Segment reporting  

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and 
returns that are different from those of other business segments.  

The Corporation determines its operating segments based on internal information regularly reviewed by the Corporation’s chief 
operating decision makers to allocate resources and assess performance. The Corporation has determined that it has two 
operating segments (namely, Rental services and Production services) supported by a Corporate segment each of which has been 
presented as a reportable segment. The Corporation previously reported a Drilling services segment which represented the PNG 
business that was spun-off upon completion of the Arrangement on August 12, 2024 (see Note 2(d)(xiii)). 

(r) Leases  

At the inception of a contract, the Corporation assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a 
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration. To 
assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Corporation considers whether it has the 
right to substantially all the economic benefits from the use of the identified asset, and the right to direct the use of the asset.  

The Corporation recognizes a right of use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right of use asset is 
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or 
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before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the 
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.  

The right of use asset is subsequently amortized using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of 
the end of the useful life of the right of use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right of use assets 
are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right of use asset is periodically reduced 
by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Corporation’s incremental 
borrowing rate. Generally, the Corporation uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.  

The lease payments included in the present value calculation include fixed payments (and in substance fixed payments); variable 
lease payments that depend on an index or rate; amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; the exercise 
price of purchase options if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and early termination penalties.  

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is re-measured when there is a change in 
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Corporation’s estimate of the amount 
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Corporation changes its assessment of whether it will exercise 
a purchase, extension, or termination option. When the lease liability is re-measured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right of use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right of use asset has been 
reduced to zero.  

The Corporation recognizes the lease payments associated with short-term leases of less than a one-year duration as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(s) Identifiable intangible assets  

The Corporation’s intangible assets include software, customer relationships, brand and non-compete agreements. Costs 
attributable to intangible assets are capitalized if future economic benefits are reasonably assured. Intangible assets are amortized 
using the straight-line method through net income over their estimated useful lives when the realization of economic benefits 
begins. The estimated useful lives are as follows: software - ten years, customer relationships - five years, brand - five years and 
non-compete agreements of five years. Amortization methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each financial 
year-end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.  

(t) Goodwill  

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the amounts 
allocated to the assets acquired less liabilities assumed based on their fair values as of the acquisition date. Goodwill acquired 
through a business combination is allocated to each CGU, or group of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the business 
combination. Each of these CGUs represents the lowest level within the Company at which the associated goodwill is monitored 
for management purposes. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested at least annually for impairment or when an indicator is 
present. Goodwill is tested for impairment at either the individual or group CGU level and is determined based upon the amount 
of future discounted cash flows generated by the individual CGU or group of CGUs compared to the individual CGU or group of 
CGUs’ respective carrying amounts. Impairment exists when the carrying value of a CGU or group of CGUs exceeds its recoverable 
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to dispose and its value in use. All of the Corporation’s goodwill has been 
allocated to the Canadian Rental Operations CGU. 

(u) Recent accounting pronouncements  
Newly adopted accounting standards 
On January 1, 2024, the Corporation adopted amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, issued by IASB.  The 
amendment is to clarify the classification of a liability as either current or non-current based on the Corporation right at the end 
of the reporting period. There is no material impact on the disclosures or amounts reported in the Financial Statements. 
 
Future accounting policy changes 
In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements, to replace IAS 1, Presentation of 
Financial Statements, effective January 1, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The new standard sets out the requirements for 
presentation and disclosures in the financial statements. The Corporation is presently reviewing the impact the standard will have 
on the Financial Statements.  
 
In May 2024, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures to 
address the classification and measurement of financial instruments, with an emphasis to clarify the date of recognition and 
derecognition of financial asset and liabilities, effective January 1, 2026, with early adoption permitted. The Corporation is 
currently reviewing the impact of these amendments, but they are not expected to have a material impact on the Corporation’s 
Financial Statements. 
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4. Common-control transaction 

The spin-off of the PNG business from High Arctic to SpinCo was deemed a common-control transaction because SpinCo was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Corporation prior to the Arrangement. As such, SpinCo elected to recognize the assets and liabilities including 
cash, accounts receivable, inventory, prepaid expense and deposits, property, plant, and equipment, right of use assets, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities and lease liabilities and income tax payable at the carrying amount according to the historical cost 
financial records of High Arctic.  

 
5. Business combination 

On December 28, 2023, High Arctic completed the acquisition of all the shares of Delta (the “Delta Acquisition”). Delta was a privately-
owned rentals company focused on pressure control equipment and equipment supporting the high-pressure stimulation of oil and 
gas wells along with other well site rental equipment.  

The Corporation accounted for the acquisition as a business combination and used the acquisition method to record the assets and 
liabilities acquired at fair value. An independent third-party valuator was engaged to estimate the fair value for the oilfield services 
equipment and intangible assets and the determination of the contingent consideration payable.  

The aggregate purchase price of the Delta Acquisition was $6,382 consisting of $3,430 in cash paid on closing and contingent 
consideration payable of $2,952 (Note 15). The contingent consideration payable is payable in a combination of cash and shares of 
the Corporation over a thirty-six-month period following the transaction’s close. The contingent consideration payable is based on the 
business acquired achieving specific profitability targets and is adjusted for capital expenditures incurred. The seller will receive a set 
percentage of the profitability target achieved. This percentage increases when the profitability target is exceeded by 20% and is 
reduced when less than 95% of the profitability target is achieved. No contingent consideration is payable when less than 50% of the 
profitability target is achieved. In conjunction with the Delta Acquisition, the Corporation incurred $110 in transaction costs which were 
recorded in general and administrative expenses. 

 
 

6. Discontinued operations 

(a) 2024 Spin-off of the PNG business: 

The operating results of the Corporation’s PNG business reported herein as discontinued operations are as follows: 

  Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024(1) 2023 
Revenue 27,352 58,549 
Oilfield services expenses (16,890) (39,344) 
General and administrative expenses (4,192) (4,309) 
Depreciation and amortization expenses (3,591) (8,385) 
Interest and finance expense (65) (153) 
Foreign exchange loss (12) (193) 
Loss on sale of property and equipment - (18) 
Asset impairment loss - (20,500) 
Reclassification of cumulative foreign currency translation gain on distribution to SpinCo 28,686 - 
Pre-tax income (loss) for the year 31,288 (14,353) 
Income tax recovery (expense) (860) 2,508 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations 30,428 (11,845) 

(1) The 2024 operating results of the Corporation’s PNG business for the year ended December 31, 2024 includes operating results from January 1, 2024 
to August 12, 2024. 

The cash flows from the Corporation’s PNG business reported herein as discontinued operations are as follows:  

    Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024(1) 2023 
Cash flow from operating activities 14,090 11,909 
Cash used in investing activities (2) (22,097) (1,458) 
Cash used in financing activities (446) (966) 

(1) The 2024 cash flows from the Corporation’s PNG business for the year ended December 31, 2024 includes cash flows from January 1, 2024 to August 
12, 2024 respectively. 

(2) Included in cash used in investing activities is $21,287 of cash retained by SpinCo as per the Arrangement (Note 1). 
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(b) 2023 Sale of Nitrogen business: 

The operating results of the Corporation’s nitrogen transportation, hauling and pumping services business reported herein as 
discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 are as follows: 

 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

 Year ended 
December 31, 2023 

Revenue   1,307 
Expenses:    

Oilfield services expenses   (1,191) 
General and administrative expenses    (292) 
Depreciation and amortization expenses   (129) 

Net loss from discontinued operations   (305) 
    

Discontinued operations from the nitrogen business reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows are as follows: 

 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

 Year ended 
December 31, 2023 

Cash flow used in operating activities  (178) 
Cash flow from investing activities  29 
Cash flow from financing activities  - 

 

7. Accounts receivable 

The aging and expected credit loss associated with accounts receivable was as follows: 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Less than 31 days 1,180 6,680 
31 days to 60 days 552 6,842 
61 days to 90 days 444 2,854 
Greater than 90 days 611 1,284 
 2,787 17,660 
Expected credit losses  (38) (192) 
 2,749 17,468 

 

High Arctic determined the expected credit loss (ECL) provision percentages used in the provision matrix based on historical credit 
loss experience as well as historical global default rates for investment grade and speculative grade companies as published by 
Standard and Poor’s. Further, High Arctic aggregated its accounts receivable into groups that share similar credit risk characteristics, 
taking into consideration drivers for each group’s credit risk. The ECL also incorporates forward-looking information.   

The details of this approach as at December 31, 2024 was as follows: 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
Less than 31 

days 31- 60 days 61 – 90 days Over 90 days Total 
Investment grade receivables 232 97 74 5 414 
Non-investment grade receivables 942 455 370 606 2,373 
Total receivables 1,180 552 444 611 2,787 
ECL for investment grade (%)  0.04 0.06 0.10 0.30  
ECL for non-investment grade (%) 0.25 0.75 2.00 4.00  
ECL provision – investment grade - - - - - 
ECL provision – non-investment grade (2) (3) (7) (26) (38) 
Total provision for ECL (2) (3) (7) (26) (38) 
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The comparative details of this approach as at December 31, 2023 was as follows: 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
Less than 31 

days 31- 60 days 61 – 90 days Over 90 days Total 
Investment grade receivables 5,893 6,278 2,674 541 15,386 
Non-investment grade receivables 787 564 180 743 2,274 
Total receivables 6,680 6,842 2,854 1,284 17,660 
ECL for investment grade (%)  0.04 0.06 0.10 0.30  
ECL for non-investment grade (%) 0.25 0.75 2.00 4.00  
ECL provision – investment grade (2) (4) (3) (2) (11) 
ECL provision – non-investment grade (2) (4) (4) (31) (41) 
Specifically provided for amounts - - - (140) (140) 
Total provision for ECL (4) (8) (7) (173) (192) 

 

8. Notes receivable 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Convertible promissory note – Team Snubbing 2,888 3,365 
Less: Interest accretion on convertible promissory note (340) (417) 
Note receivable on Delta Acquisition  587 880 
Less: Interest accretion on note receivable on Delta Acquisition (44) (88) 
Total notes receivable 3,091 3,740 
Current 1,062 745 
Non-current 2,029 2,995 

During 2022, High Arctic entered into an agreement with Team Snubbing Services Inc. (“Team Snubbing”) to sell its snubbing assets 
(the “Snubbing Transaction”). As part of the consideration, High Arctic received a convertible promissory note from Team Snubbing 
for $3,365 with a five-year term, annual interest of 4.5% accruing from January 1, 2023 and principal repayments which commenced 
in July 2024. The note receivable is being recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. In the event of default, 
the outstanding principal amount plus accrued interest is convertible to additional common shares of Team Snubbing.  

In 2023, as part of the assets acquired in the Delta Acquisition, High Arctic received an interest-free note receivable for $880 repayable 
in equal amounts over three years. The note receivable is considered a financial asset. The carrying value of the note is determined by 
discounting the anticipated future cash flow impact of the note using an effective interest rate of 5.0% which approximates the credit 
risk associated with the principal amount outstanding of the note. Accretion income of $44 was recorded to the note receivable in 
2024 which results in a carrying value balance of $543 as at December 31, 2024.  
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9. Property and equipment 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) Vehicles 
Oilfield 

equipment 

Office & 
computer 

equipment  
Land and 
building 

 
 
 

Work-in 
progress Total 

Costs       
Balance, December 31, 2022 1,897 201,595 3,109 6,866 - 213,467 
Additions - 1,018 - - 941 1,959 
Disposals (1,492) (16,513) (664) - - (18,669) 
Acquisition (Note 5) - 3,540 33 - - 3,573 
Transfers (30) 634 21 - (625) - 
Impairment - (20,500) - - - (20,500) 
Effect of foreign exchange (3) (3,643) (8) - (6) (3,660) 
Balance, December 31, 2023 372 166,131 2,491 6,866 310 176,170 
Distributed to SpinCo as per the Arrangement (132) (148,675) (243) - (310) (149,360) 
Additions - 1,625 - - - 1,625 
Dispositions (58) (523) - - - (581) 
Balance, December 31, 2024 182 18,558 2,248 6,866 - 27,854 
Accumulated depreciation        
Balance, December 31, 2022 1,885 154,377 2,740 1,503 - 160,505 
Depreciation 12 8,957 107 173 - 9,249 
Disposals (1,580) (15,715) (655) - - (17,950) 
Effect of foreign exchange (2) (3,178) (8) - - (3,188) 
Balance, December 31, 2023 315 144,441 2,184 1,676 - 148,616 
Distributed to SpinCo as per the Arrangement (89) (132,648) (221) - - (132,958) 
Depreciation 1 1,611 207 173 - 1,992 
Dispositions (47) (348) - - - (395) 
Balance, December 31, 2024 180 13,056 2,170 1,849 - 17,255 
        
Net book value, December 31, 2023 57 21,690 307 5,190 310 27,554 
Net book value, December 31, 2024 2 5,502 78 5,017 - 10,599 

 

The Corporation determined that there were no indicators of impairment for the Canadian Rental Operations CGU at December 31, 
2024.  

2023 Impairment  

During 2023, the Corporation identified indicators of potential impairment in its PNG Operations CGU. Indicators included the 
Corporation’s primary customer planning to conclude drilling after completing its minimum well commitment on their drilling schedule 
under a long-term contract and the lack of outstanding customer contract tenders or open bid submissions for High Arctic’s rigs 115 
and 116. The Corporation performed an impairment test to determine the recoverable amount of the PNG Operations CGU and it was 
determined that the recoverable amount of the PNG Operations CGU was below its carrying value of $52,050 resulting in an impairment 
of $20,500 at September 30, 2023.  

The recoverable amount of the PNG Operations CGU was determined using a value in use calculation. Revenue and EBITDA forecasts 
were performed up to and including the year 2027 and were based on management’s current assessment of future combined drilling, 
rental and workover activity and were based on management’s P50 forecast case (P50 being a case that can be exceeded with 50% 
probability i.e., the most probable case) using both external and internal sources, contracts currently in place as well as historical 
activity levels.  

Cash flows used in the calculation were discounted using a discount rate specific to the PNG Operations CGU. The after-tax discount 
rate derived from the Corporation’s weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for risk factors specific to the PNG Operations CGU and 
used in determining the recoverable amount was 25.2%. The PNG Operations CGU was distributed to SpinCo as per the Arrangement 
on August 12, 2024. 
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2023 Dispositions  

For the year ended December 31, 2023, as part of the Nitrogen Transaction, High Arctic disposed of property and equipment for cash 
consideration of $1,350 which resulted in a gain on sale of $615 (see Note 6(b)). In 2023, High Arctic disposed of other property and 
equipment and received cash proceeds of $234 resulting in a gain on sale of $169. 

In 2024, the Company disposed of other property and equipment and received cash proceeds of $178 resulting in a loss on dispositions 
of $8. 

 

10. Right of use assets and lease liabilities 

(a) Right of use assets: 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Costs   
Opening balance 3,653 1,560 
Distributed to SpinCo as per the Arrangement (2,087) - 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes - (49) 
Additions 49 1,697 
Dispositions (4) (729) 
Acquisition - 1,174 
Closing balance 1,611 3,653 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Accumulated amortization   
Opening balance 998 186 
Distributed to SpinCo as per the Arrangement (881) - 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes - (21) 
Amortization 290 833 
Closing balance 407 998 
Net closing balance 1,204 2,655 

The right of use assets relate to real estate assets and vehicles.  

 

(b) Lease liabilities: 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Opening balance 2,819 1,482 
Distributed to SpinCo as per the Arrangement (1,286) - 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 49 (32) 
Lease additions - 1,697 
Lease disposals (4) (550) 
Acquisition  - 1,174 
Lease payments (349) (1,148) 
Lease finance expense (Note 18(c))  82 196 
Closing balance 1,311 2,819 
Current 368 959 
Non-current 943 1,860 

The lease liabilities relate to real estate assets and vehicles which are recorded as right of use assets. 
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The undiscounted cash flows relating to the lease liabilities at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows: 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Less than one year 435 1,055 
One year to five years 294 2,144 
More than five years 753 - 
Total undiscounted liabilities 1,482 3,199 

 
11. Intangible assets and goodwill  

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

Customer 
relationships 

Brand and non-
compete 

agreement 

 
Software 

Total 
intangibles 

 
Goodwill 

Costs      
Balance, December 31, 2022 - - - - - 
Additions 1,215 286 - 1,501 812 
Balance, December 31, 2023 1,215 286 - 1,501 - 
Additions - - 322 322 - 
Balance, December 31, 2024 1,215 286 322 1,823 812 
Accumulated amortization      
Balance, December 31, 2022 - - - - - 
Amortization - - - - - 
Balance, December 31, 2023 - - - - - 
Amortization 243 57 13 313 - 
Balance, December 31, 2024 243 57 13 313 - 
      
Net book value, December 31, 2023 1,215 286 - 1,501 812 
Net book value, December 31, 2024 972 229 309 1,510 812 

The intangible assets acquired in the Delta acquisition include customer relationships with a fair value of $1,215, brand with a fair value 
of $76 and a non-compete agreement with a fair value of $210. The fair value of customer relationships was determined using an 
income approach using the multi-period excess earnings method. The significant assumptions used in determining the fair value of 
the customer relationships include forecasted revenues and cash flows from existing customer relationships, customer attrition rates, 
contributory asset charges and discount rates. 

The Corporation's impairment analysis as of December 31, 2024, indicated that the recoverable amount of the Canadian Rental 
Operations CGU exceeded its carrying value, and therefore, no impairment was recorded. The recoverable amount of the CGU was 
based on its value in use and the significant assumptions for the value in use calculations were the discount rates and EBITDA forecasts.  
At December 31, 2024, the Company used an estimated risk adjusted, after-tax discount rate of 35% and a terminal growth rate of 
2.9%. Future cash flows are based on various judgments and estimates including actual performance of the business, management's 
estimates of future performance, and indicators of future industry activity levels. A 1% increase in the after-tax discount rate and a 1% 
decrease in the terminal growth rate would not have resulted in an impairment being recognized. 

 

12. Equity investments 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Equity investment – Team Snubbing Services Inc. 7,344 8,034 
Equity investment – Seh’ Chene Well Services Limited Partnership 148 148 
 7,492 8,182 
   

In 2022, as part of the “Snubbing Transaction”, an equity ownership investment in Team Snubbing and a note receivable (Note 8) were 
received as consideration.  
 
  



2024 | CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  22 HIGH ARCTIC ENERGY SERVICES 

 

The following financial information for Team Snubbing as at and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and are as follows:  

 Balance Sheet  Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)   2024 2023 
Cash   334 255 
Current assets, excluding cash    5,838 4,815 
Non-current assets   19,992 16,354 
Current liabilities   (13,452) (10,413) 
Non-current liabilities   (6,145) (2,783) 

 

Income Statement  Year ended Dec 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)   2024 2023 
Revenue   26,064 21,252 
Net income (loss) after tax    (1,662) 1,912 
Net income (loss) after tax – 42% share   (690) 803 

During 2023, Team Snubbing declared its first dividend of $857 and as a result, High Arctic’s proportionate share of the dividend of 
$360 was recorded as a reduction to its equity investment in Team Snubbing. 

High Arctic has a 49% ownership interest in the Seh’ Chene Well Services Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) and is one of two 
participants in the Partnership whose mission is to execute dependable high-quality energy services, focused on environmental 
stewardship, while creating opportunity for local Indigenous communities and individuals. Investment into the Partnership in 2020 was 
nominal with the Corporation’s interest in earnings accumulating to $148 as at December 31, 2024. No earnings were distributed from 
the Partnership in 2024 and 2023. 

 
13. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

The nature of the Corporation’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities are as follows: 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Trade accounts payable 883 5,405 
Accrued liabilities 1,661 7,385 
Wages and payroll taxes payable 105 973 
Other accounts payable 92 371 
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,741 14,134 

 
14. Long-term debt 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Current 175 175 
Non-current 3,178 3,352 
Total 3,353 3,527 

The Corporation has mortgage financing secured by lands and buildings owned by High Arctic located within Alberta, Canada. The 
mortgage has a remaining initial term of under two years with a fixed interest rate of 4.30% with payments occurring monthly. The 
Corporation’s mortgage financing contains certain non-financial covenants requiring lenders’ consent including changes to the 
underlying business.  
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15. Contingent consideration 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Opening balance 2,952 - 
Acquisition - 2,952 
Accretion 292 - 
Fair value adjustment 259 - 
First year contingent consideration owing (1,146) - 
Closing balance 2,357 2,952 
Current 1,245 812 
Non-current 1,112 2,140 

On December 28, 2023, High Arctic completed the acquisition of all the shares of Delta for cash consideration of $3,430 and contingent 
consideration of $2,952. The contingent consideration is payable in a combination of cash and shares of the Corporation over a thirty-
six-month period following the transaction’s close. The contingent consideration payable is based on the acquired business achieving 
specific profitability targets and is adjusted for capital expenditures incurred. The seller will receive a set percentage of the profitability 
target achieved. This percentage increases when the profitability target is exceeded by 20% and is reduced when less than 95% of the 
profitability target is achieved. No contingent consideration is payable when less than 50% of the profitability target is achieved. In 
determining the fair value of the contingent consideration payable, several profitability scenarios were considered and then given a 
probability rating and discounted to determine a probability-weighted contingent consideration payable amount. 

In 2024, the Delta business substantively met its first-year profitability targets and no adjustments were required based on the capital 
expenditures incurred. As a result, the 2024 Delta business was in line with the assumptions used to determine the contingent 
consideration originally recorded. Based on the 2024 results combined with the Corporation’s estimate of future profitability and 
capital expenditure levels, a fair value adjustment of $259 and accretion of $292 has been made and expensed for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at December 31, 2024 is $1,146 related to the first year 
portion of the contingent consideration. 

16. Shareholders’ equity 

(a) Share capital  

 
The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of preferred shares. No 
preferred shares have been issued by the Corporation. The common shares do not have a par value and all issued shares are fully paid. 
On December 13, 2023, the Corporation received approval from the Toronto Stock Exchange to acquire for cancellation up to 250,000 
common shares, or approximately two percent of the Corporation’s outstanding shares, under a Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”). 
Upon completion of the Arrangement, the NCIB was terminated on August 12, 2024. No shares were purchased and cancelled pursuant 
to the NCIB prior to its termination (2023 – 4,574 shares). On June 28, 2024, the Corporation announced a distribution to its 
shareholders by way of a return of capital distribution of $0.76 per common share of High Arctic. The total amount of this distribution, 
$37.8 million, was paid on July 17, 2024. 
 

  Year ended 
Dec 31, 2024 

Year ended 
Dec 31, 2023 

Common shares issued and outstanding:  Shares(1) Amount Shares(1) Amount 
Balance, beginning of year  12,280,568 $169,992 12,172,958 $169,554 
Exercise of performance share units (Note 17)  70,545 422 112,184 502 
Exercise of deferred share units (Note 17)  97,053 581 - - 
Purchase of common shares for cancellation  - - (4,574) (64) 
Distribution - return of capital  - (37,842) - - 
Balance, end of year  12,448,166 $133,153 12,280,568 $169,992 

(1) Pursuant to the de facto four-to-one consolidation of the Corporation’s outstanding common shares effective August 12, 2024, the number of 
common shares outstanding and all per-share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to effect the stock consolidation. 
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(b) Per share amounts  

(thousands of Canadian Dollars)  Year ended December 31, 
(except number of common shares)   2024 2023 
Continuing Operations:     

Net loss   (2,117) (989) 
Basic - weighted average number of common shares   12,366,198 12,178,990 
Basic net loss per share   (0.17) (0.08) 
Diluted - weighted average number of common shares   12,512,987 12,704,950 
Diluted net loss per share(2)   (0.17) (0.08) 
     

Discontinued Operations:     
Net income (loss)   30,428 (12,150) 
Basic - weighted average number of common shares   12,366,198 12,178,990 
Basic net income (loss) per share    2.46 (1.00) 
Diluted - weighted average number of common shares   12,512,987 12,704,950 
Diluted net income (loss) per share(2)   2.43 (1.00) 

(1) Pursuant to the de facto four-to-one consolidation of the Corporation’s outstanding common shares effective August 12, 2024, the number of 
common shares outstanding and all per-share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to effect the stock consolidation. 

(2) For periods when the Corporation incurred a net loss from either continuing or discontinued operations, the shares outstanding under the 
Corporation’s equity-based compensation plans for the periods presented were excluded from the calculation of diluted weighted average number 
of common shares as the outstanding options and units were anti-dilutive. 

 

17. Share-based compensation expense 

The Corporation has three equity-based compensation plans under which up to 1,244,817 common shares (being 10% of all 
outstanding shares) may be issued as at December 31, 2024. The following table summarizes the Corporation’s outstanding grants for 
each equity-based compensation plan: 

(number of stock options and share units)(1) 
As at  

Dec 31, 2024 
As at  

Dec 31, 2023 
Stock options 575,000 29,250 
Performance share unit plan (“PSUP”) – restricted units (“RSUs”) - 35,014 
PSUP – performance units (“PSUs”) - 45,134 
Deferred share units (“DSUs”) - 234,634 
Balance, end of year 575,000 344,032 
Common shares available for grants 1,244,817 1,228,057 
Percentage used of total available 46% 28% 
Remaining common shares available for grant 669,817 884,025 

(1) Pursuant to the de facto four-to-one consolidation of the Corporation’s outstanding common shares effective August 12, 2024, the number of stock 
options, performance share units and deferred share units outstanding have been retroactively adjusted to effect the stock consolidation. 

 
Share-based compensation expense associated with each equity-based compensation plans amounted to:  

         Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)  2024 2023 
Stock options 5 18 
Performance share unit plan – restricted and performance units  121 222 
Deferred share units  34 256 
Total expense  160 496 

 

Stock Option Plan 
 

The Corporation has a Stock Option Plan under which options to purchase common shares may be granted to directors, management, 
and certain employees. These stock options are typically exercisable over a term of five years and are subject to a three-year vesting 
period with 33.3 percent exercisable by the holder after the first anniversary date, another 33.3 percent after the second anniversary 
date and the balance after the third anniversary date. 
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A total of 575,000 of stock options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2024 at an exercise price of $1.19. The estimated 
fair value of each share option granted is $0.51 calculated using the Black-Scholes-Merton model The model inputs used include a 
five-day volume-weighted average share price of $1.19, expected annual volatility of 60.8%, and a weighted-average forfeiture rate of 
28.3%. 
 
Details regarding the stock options and associated changes and weighted average exercise prices are as follows: 

 

 
Number of  

stock options(1) 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price ($)(1) 
As at December 31, 2022 62,500 5.56 
Forfeited/cancelled (33,250) (5.56) 
As at December 31, 2023 29,250 5.56 
Forfeited/settled (29,250) (5.56) 
Granted 575,000 1.19 
As at December 31, 2024 575,000 1.19 

(1) Pursuant to the de facto four-to-one consolidation of the Corporation’s outstanding common shares effective August 12, 2024, the number of stock 
options and average exercise prices have been retroactively adjusted to effect the stock consolidation. 

 
Performance Share Unit Plan 

Historically, the Corporation issued PSUs to senior management and consultants to provide them with the opportunity to acquire an 
increased proprietary interest in the Corporation’s growth and development. In conjunction with the Arrangement, all outstanding 
PSUs were settled in 2024 and no new PSUs were granted in 2023 or 2024. 

Details regarding the PSUP units and related activity are as follows: 

(number of share units)(1) RSUs PSUs Total 
As at December 31, 2022 131,241 101,986 233,227 
Dividends re-invested 4,977 3,616 8,593 
Exercised (82,711) (29,473) (112,184) 
Forfeited/cancelled (18,493) (30,995) (49,488) 
As at December 31, 2023 35,014 45,134 80,148 
Exercised (35,014) (35,531) (70,545) 
Forfeited/cancelled - (9,603) (9,603) 
As at December 31, 2024 - - - 

(1) Pursuant to the de facto four-to-one consolidation of the Corporation’s outstanding common shares effective August 12, 2024, the number of 
performance share units have been retroactively adjusted to effect the stock consolidation. 

 

Deferred Share Unit Plan  

Historically, the Corporation issued DSUs to non-employee directors to provide them with the opportunity to participate in the long-
term success of the Corporation and, in lieu of cash compensation, to promote a greater alignment of interests between directors and 
the Corporation’s shareholders. In conjunction with the Arrangement, all outstanding DSUs were settled in 2024 and no new DSUs 
were granted after Q1 2024. 

Details regarding the DSU units and related activity are as follows: 

(number of share units)(1) 

For the year 
ended  

Dec 31, 2024 

 For the year 
ended  

Dec 31, 2023 
Outstanding, beginning of year 234,634 276,993 
Granted 7,870 38,887 
Exercised (97,053) - 
Settled (92,121) - 
Forfeited (53,330) (91,169) 
Dividends re-invested - 9,923 
Outstanding, end of year - 234,634 

(1) Pursuant to the de facto four-to-one consolidation of the Corporation’s outstanding common shares effective August 12, 2024, the number of 
performance share units have been retroactively adjusted to effect the stock consolidation. 
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All of the DSUs granted in 2023 and 2024 were granted pursuant to certain Directors’ electing to have their compensation for services 
paid in DSUs rather than cash. The weighted average fair value of each DSU granted during 2024 was $1.09 (year ended December 31, 
2023 - $1.23), equivalent to the previous 5-day weighted average share price at the time of grant. 
 
On June 17, 2024, at the Annual and Special General Meeting of the Corporation and in conjunction with the reorganization and 
planned return of capital, the shareholders approved a resolution approving the redemption of all outstanding units under the 
Corporation’s DSU plan. As a result of the redemption, 97,053 DSUs were exercised and issued as common shares to the Directors and 
92,121 DSUs were settled in cash of $551 to cover the tax portion owing. 

18. Supplementary expense disclosures – continuing operations 

(a) Oilfield services expenses by nature: 

  Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)   2024 2023 
Personnel   1,512 424 
Equipment operating and maintenance   1,379 490 
Material and supplies   2,131 342 
Other   241 70 
Total oilfield services expenses   5,263 1,326 

 
(b) General and administrative expenses by nature: 

  Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)   2024 2023 
Personnel   2,856 2,565 
Professional, legal and advisory fees   1,675 1,376 
Information technology services   356 438 
Corporate   383 427 
Office and warehouse   196 164 
Expected credit losses (recovery)   (144) 147 
Vehicle, supplies and other   90 40 
Total general and administrative expenses   5,412 5,157 

 
(c) Interest and finance expenses: 

  Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)   2024 2023 
Interest on long-term debt and standby fees   150 189 
Finance expense – lease liabilities   82 32 
Accretion expense on contingent consideration   292 - 
Other expenses   11 10 
Interest and finance expenses   535 231 

19. Supplementary cash flow information  

Changes in non-cash working capital balances: 

  Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars)   2024 2023 
Source (use) of cash:     
Accounts receivable   (95) 969 
Inventory, prepaid expense and other assets   117 317 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (615) (437) 
Dividend payable   - (243) 
Income taxes receivable   - (323) 
Income taxes payable   - 251 
   (593) 534 
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Attributable to:     
Operating activities   (300) 777 
Financing activities   (293) (243) 
   (593) 534 

 
 

20. Income tax 
 

(a) Income tax expense – from continuing operations 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
Year ended  

December 31, 2024 
Year ended  

December 31, 2023 
Current income tax expense 9 4 
Deferred income tax recovery - (915) 

Total income tax expense (recovery) 9 (911) 
 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
Year ended  

December 31, 2024 
Year ended  

December 31, 2023 
Net loss before income tax (2,108) (1,900) 
Canadian statutory tax rate 23.00% 23.16% 
Expected income tax expense (recovery)  (485) (440) 

   
Increase (decrease) resulting from:   

Tax rate changes 470 - 
Non-deductible differences 66 128 
Non-taxable dividends received (83) - 
Change in unrecognized deferred tax asset (1,242) 542 
Reconciliation to prior year provision 1,006 (168) 
Recognition of previously unrecognized deferred tax liability - (915) 
Other 277 (58) 

Total income tax expense (recovery) 9 (911) 
Effective tax rate (0.4%) 207.1% 
 
The provision for income tax differs from the result that would be obtained by applying the expected Canadian tax rate of 23.00% 
(2023 – 23.16%) against the net loss before income taxes. The Corporation’s effective tax rate was impacted mainly by unrecognized 
deferred tax assets related to deductible temporary differences in Canada. 
 

(b) Deferred tax assets (liabilities) 
Differences between the accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities at expected tax rates upon anticipated reversal of such 
differences create deferred tax assets and liabilities on the statement of financial position.  
 
The following table summarizes the deferred income tax assets and liabilities by jurisdiction: 

 
Year ended  

December 31, 2024 
Year ended  

December 31, 2023 
Continuing Operations: 
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):   

Property and equipment 1,010 1,665 
 Intangibles (273) (350) 

    Right of use assets (277) (337) 
    Lease liabilities 303 357 
    Non-capital losses 31,017 31,526 
    Capital losses 4,554 4,606 
    Unrecognized deferred tax asset (36,231) (37,467) 
    Other (103) - 
     - - 
 

The following tables summarize the movements of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year: 
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December 31, 

2023 
Recognized in net 

loss 
Distributed to 

SpinCo  December 31, 2024 

Continuing Operations:     

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):           
Property and equipment 1,665 (655) - 1,010 
Intangibles (350) 77 - (273) 
Right of use assets (337) 60 - (277) 
Lease liabilities 357 (54) - 303 

  Non-capital losses 31,526 (509) - 31,017 
Capital losses 4,606 (52) - 4,554 
Unrecognized deferred tax asset (37,467) 1,236 - (36,231) 
Other - (103)  (103) 

 - - - - 
Discontinued Operations:     
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):     

  Property and equipment and Inventory (1,726) 249 (1,477) - 
  Non-capital losses 2,976 (320) 2,656 - 
  Unrecognized deferred tax asset (1,250) 71 (1,179) - 

 - - - - 

Net deferred income tax (liabilities) assets  - - - - 
 

 
December 31, 

2022 
Recognized in net 

loss 
Business 

Combination December 31, 2023 

Continuing Operations:     

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):           
Property and equipment          2,821        (591)   (565) 1,665 
Intangibles - - (350) (350) 
Right of use assets (137) 73 (273) (337) 
Lease liabilities 161 (77) 273 357 

  Non-capital losses 29,479 2,047 - 31,526 
Capital losses 4,606 - - 4,606 
Unrecognized deferred tax asset (36,939) (528) - (37,467) 
Other 9 (9) -  

 - 915 (915) - 
Discontinued Operations:     
Deferred income tax liabilities:     

  Property and equipment and Inventory (7,690) 5,964 - (1,726) 
  Non-capital losses 3,764 (788) - 2,976 
  Unrecognized deferred tax asset - (1,250) - (1,250) 
  Other 37 (37) - - 

 (3,889) 3,889 - - 

Net deferred income tax (liabilities) assets   (3,889)        - - - 
 
During 2023, deferred tax assets created through the accumulation of non-capital losses in Canada were reviewed to assess the 
probability that future taxable profit could be utilized against such losses, and it was determined that subsequent to the Sale 
Transactions the asset should be written down to $Nil. At December 31, 2024 the Corporation assessed the probability that future 
taxable profit could be utilized against non-capital losses and determined that no deferred tax asset should be recorded in 2024. 

 
(c) Unrecognized non-capital losses 
Total Canadian non-capital losses carried forward for income tax purposes totaled $134,858 at December 31, 2024 (2023 - $135,537), 
which expire in years 2027 through 2044.  
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(d) Capital losses 
At December 31, 2024, the capital losses carried forward for income tax purposes totaled $39,603 (2023 - $39,603), which can be 
carried forward indefinitely, but only used against capital gains. 
 
(e) Withholding taxes 
The government of PNG levies withholding taxes when funds are repatriated out of the country, which includes intercompany 
dividends. For the year ended December 31, 2023, withholding tax levied associated with such charges amounted to a credit of $273 
for overpayment of 2022 taxes and are recorded as part of current income tax expense. The average dividend withholding rate in 2023 
was estimated to be 15%. 
 
The government of PNG levies foreign contractor withholding tax at 15% (2023 – 15%) on all PNG revenue earned by companies 
incorporated outside of PNG, which includes the Corporation’s Singaporean entity. Customers deduct this tax and remit it directly to 
the government in PNG. Included in Income tax recovery (expense) from discontinued operations relating to the Spin-off of the PNG 
business (Note 6(a)) is $860 (2023 - $1,595).  
 
(f) Income tax receivable  
Income tax receivable at December 31, 2023 totaled $665 for installment payments made to the PNG government. The Corporation 
can apply the prepayments to future income tax payments on earnings. The December 31, 2023 current income tax receivable is 
reflective of expected future income tax obligations to the PNG Government. 
 

21. Financial instruments and risk management 

Financial instrument measurement and classification: 
The Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, notes receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, long-term debt, lease liabilities and contingent consideration payable. The carrying values of cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term nature 
of these instruments. The carrying value of long-term debt and lease liabilities where interest is charged at a fixed rate is not 
significantly different than fair value. 
 
At December 31, 2024, the estimated fair value of the Corporation’s notes receivable was $3,091 (December 31, 2023 - $3,740). This 
determination of fair value is based on level 3 inputs as there are no active market valuation inputs available in order to support a 
different valuation for the notes receivable. See Note 8. 
 
At December 31, 2024, the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration payable was calculated to total $2,357 (December 31, 
2023 - $2,952). See Note 15. 
 
Financial and other risks: 

The Corporation is exposed to financial risks arising from its financial assets and liabilities. This includes pandemic and/or endemic risk 
or the risk that operations and/or administration are forced to run at less than full capacity due to an absence or reduction of members 
of the workforce, either through forced closures by government both within countries and across national borders, by internally 
imposed rotational schedules and/or quarantine or illness of the workforce. Further, geopolitical risks are the potential risks that a 
business may face due to changes in global events, policies, national security threats, or regulations. These have impact on a company’s 
workforce and operations by limiting market access and increasing costs and could have significant impact on the Corporation. Also, 
cybersecurity risks increase with the use of cloud hosted servers. Such restrictions could significantly impact the ability for the 
Corporation to operate and therefore, impact financial results.  

Market risks: 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial assets or liabilities will fluctuate due to movements in market 
rates: 

a) Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The 
Corporation currently has mortgage financing with a fixed interest rate of 4.30% (Note 14). The Corporation is exposed to interest rate 
risk upon renewal or expiration of the initial term. The Corporation had no risk management contracts that would be affected by 
interest rates at December 31, 2024. 
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b) Commodity price risk 

Commodity price risk is the risk that the Corporation’s future cash flows will fluctuate due to changes in demand for High Arctic’s 
services, where almost all the Corporation’s customers are oil and gas producers. High Arctic’s customers’ activity and strategic 
decisions are impacted by the fluctuations of oil and gas pricing.  

These prices are sensitive to not only the relationship between the Canadian and US dollar, but more importantly local, regional and 
world economic and geopolitical events. This includes implications from changing oil demand and supply, policy direction by OPEC, 
the ongoing effect of the conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and in the Middle East, climate change driven transitions to lower 
emission energy sources and the impact of future pandemics upon economic activity including the emergence of variants of COVID-
19.   

The Corporation had no risk management contracts that would be affected by commodity prices at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

c) Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in the exchange rate between Canadian and foreign currencies will affect the 
Corporation’s results. The Corporation’s continuing operations have nominal USD exposure. USD expenditures are typically only made 
when purchasing property and equipment. Accordingly, no changes to the net loss would result if there was a $0.10 change in the 
exchange rate of the Canadian Dollar relative to the USD. 

Credit risk, customers, and economic dependence: 

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss occurring as a result of a default by a counter party on its obligation to the Corporation. The 
Corporation’s financial instruments that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of accounts receivable and cash balances held in 
banks. The Corporation mitigates credit risk by regularly monitoring its accounts receivable position and depositing cash in properly 
capitalized banks. The Corporation also institutes credit reviews prior to commencement of contractual arrangements. 

The Corporation’s accounts receivable are primarily comprised of balances from customers operating in the oil and natural gas industry, 
whose revenues may be affected by fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices and are subject to credit risk consistent with the industry. 
The Corporation manages credit risk by assessing the creditworthiness of its customers on an ongoing basis and continuously reviews 
individual customer trade receivables, taking into consideration payment history and the aging of the account receivable, to assess 
collectability.  

In providing for ECL, the Corporation uses the historical default rates within the industry between investment grade and non-
investment grade customers as well as forward-looking information to determine the appropriate loss allowance provision.  

The net carrying amount of accounts receivable represents the estimated maximum credit exposure on the accounts receivable 
balance. The Corporation has a range of customers comprised of small independent, intermediate and large multinational oil and gas 
producers in North America.  

The Corporation’s continuing operations provided services to one large customer who individually accounted for greater than 10% of 
its consolidated revenues during the year ended December 31, 2024 with total sales of $1,283 (2023: four customers with total sales 
of $2,630).  

As at December 31, 2024, two customers represented a total of $750 or 27% of outstanding accounts receivable (December 31, 2023 
and inclusive of the Corporation’s discontinued operations – two customers represented a total of $15,139 or 92% of outstanding 
accounts receivable).  

Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
due.  

The Corporation’s processes for managing liquidity risk include preparing and monitoring capital and operating budgets, working 
capital management, coordinating, and authorizing project expenditures, authorization of contractual agreements, and managing 
compliance to debt finance agreements. 

The Corporation's future financial results and longer-term success are dependent upon its working capital, its ability to secure 
additional capital from debt or equity financings or completing other arrangements to fund the Corporation's activities while the 
Corporation attempts to generate recurring positive cash flows from operations. The Corporation will continue to monitor its liquidity 
position in future periods. 
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The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Company’s financial liabilities as of December 31, 2024: 

Payments due by period 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 
Less than 3 

months 
3 months 
to 1 year 

 
1-2 years 2-5 years 

 
>5 years Total 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,741 - - - - 2,741 
Lease liabilities 61 374 294 753 - 1,482 
Long-term debt 54 263 310 813 3,337 4,777 
Contingent consideration payable - 1,245 1,112 - - 2,357 
Total 2.856 1,882 1,716 1,566 3,337 11,357 
       

22. Segmented information 

The Corporation determines its operating segments based on internal information reviewed by the executive management team and 
Board of Directors to allocate resources and assess performance. The Corporation’s reportable operating segments are strategic 
operating units that offer different products and services and warrant separate capital allocation consideration. The Corporation has 
three operating segments, supported by a corporate segment as follows:  

a) Drilling services 

This segment consists of the Corporation’s Drilling Services provided in PNG, including the provision of drilling personnel to assist our 
customer’s operations. As per the Arrangement (Note 1) this segment was distributed to SpinCo on August 12, 2024. The results from 
this entire segment have been captured in discontinued operations (Note 6(a)). 

b) Rental services 

Rental services segment (previously reported as “Ancillary services”) consists of High Arctic’s oilfield rental equipment of pressure 
control and other oilfield equipment to exploration and production companies in Canada. As per the Arrangement (Note 1), the Rental 
services segment that comprised the oilfield rental equipment business in PNG was distributed to SpinCo on August 12, 2024. The 
results of the Rental services segment in PNG has been captured in discontinued operations (Note 6(a)).  

c) Production services 

This segment consists of the Corporation’s snubbing assets in the US, its equity investment in Team Snubbing and Seh' Chene Well 
Services Limited Partnership.  

d) Corporate 

This segment provides management and administrative services to all the Corporation’s operations. 

Details associated with each operating segment are provided as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for the years ended December 
31, 2024 and 2023 in the tables which follow. 
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i. Income (loss) from reportable segments 
Year ended December 31, 2024  
 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

Drilling 
services 

Rental 
services 

 
Production 

services Corporate Total 
Revenue - 10,470 - - 10,470 
Oilfield services expenses - (5,263) - - (5,263) 
General and administrative expenses - (979) 4 (4,437) (5,412) 
Depreciation and amortization expenses - (1,418) (234) (948) (2,600) 
Share-based compensation expenses - - - (160) (160) 
Interest and other income - - - 1,289 1,289 
Interest and finance expenses - - - (535) (535) 
Accretion on notes receivable - - - 265 265 
Foreign exchange gain - - - 795 795 
Loss on sale of property and equipment - - (8) - (8) 
Adjustment to contingent consideration  - (259) - - (259) 
Loss from equity investments - - (690) - (690) 
Net segment income (loss) before income tax 

expense from continuing operations - 2,551 (928) (3,731) (2,108) 
Net segment income (loss) before income tax 

expense from discontinued operations(1) 1,066 1,709 (83) 28,596 31,288 
(1) Represents income (loss) from discontinued operations to August 12, 2024. 

 

Year ended December 31, 2023 
  
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 

Drilling 
services 

Rental 
services 

 
Production 

services Corporate Total 
Revenue - 3,384 - - 3,384 
Oilfield services expenses - (1,326) - - (1,326) 
General and administrative expenses - (774) (17) (4,366) (5,157) 
Depreciation and amortization expenses - (849) (452) (267) (1,568) 
Share-based compensation expenses - - - (496) (496) 
Interest and other income - - - 2,018 2,018 
Interest and finance expenses - - - (231) (231) 
Accretion on notes receivable - - - 192 192 
Foreign exchange loss - - - (321) (321) 
Gain on sale of property and equipment - 162 - 25 187 
Gain on sale of Nitrogen business - 615 - - 615 
Income from equity investments - - 803 - 803 
Net segment income (loss) before income tax 

expense from continuing operations - 1,212 334 (3,446) (1,900) 
Net segment income (loss) before income tax 

expense from discontinued operations (17,048) 5,375 (2,639) (346) (14,658) 
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ii. Asset breakdown by reportable segments 

As at 
December 31, 2024 

(thousands of 
Canadian Dollars) 

Drilling 
services 

Rental 
services  

Production 
services Corporate Total 

Property and equipment - 6,350 393 3,856 10,599 
Right of use assets - 1,151 - 53 1,204 
Equity investments - - 7,492 - 7,492 
Total assets - 12,638 7,885 10,344 30,867 
Capital expenditures - 1,625 - 322 1,947 

 

As at 
December 31, 2023 

(thousands of 
Canadian Dollars) 

Drilling 
services 

Rental 
services  

Production 
services Corporate Total 

Property and equipment - 6,255 722 4,176 11,153 
Right of use assets - 1,371 - 78 1,449 
Equity investments - - 8,182 - 8,182 
Total assets from continuing operations - 13,565 8,974 43,909 66,448 
Total assets from discontinued 

operations 39,419 16,952 95 223 56,689 
Total assets 39,419 30,517 9,069 44,132 123,137 
Capital expenditures - 501 - - 501 

 

23. Related party transactions 

Included in general and administrative expenses and intangible asset additions in 2024 are consulting fees totaling $24 that were paid 
to a private company in which a director of the Corporation is a director. These transactions approximate fair value and have been 
accounted for at the exchange amount being the amount agreed to by the related parties. 

For the year ended and as at December 31, 2024, the Corporation charged to SpinCo and was owed by SpinCo $207 and $192 
respectively for administrative services provided after the completion of the Arrangement. The Corporation and SpinCo are deemed 
to be related parties given their common senior management in their CEO and CFO positions. 

Director and executive personnel 

The table below summarizes all Board of Director and executive compensation: 

 Year ended December 31, 
(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024 2023 
Directors’ fees, executive wages including employee benefits 1,015 1,403 
Share-based compensation 156 452 
Total 1,171 1,855 

 

One executive officer (2023 – two) has a change of control clause that would result in additional wages and benefit expenses being 
accrued if executed, as well as immediate vesting of outstanding share-based compensation plans. Severance amounts of $Nil were 
paid in 2024 (2023 - $86) to executive personnel. 

The Corporation routinely conducts business with Team Snubbing in which it holds a 42% ownership interest (Note 12). The following 
table represents the balances at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 and transaction totals for the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023 with Team Snubbing: 

(thousands of Canadian Dollars) 2024 2023 
Accounts receivable 446 145 
Revenue 1,282 1,402 
ECL losses (recovery) (140) 140 
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These related party transactions are conducted in the normal course of business and are measured at the exchange amount, which is 
the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the parties. 

24. Subsequent event 

Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Corporation issued 248,793 shares as part of the settlement of the first-year contingent 
consideration payable pursuant to the Delta Acquisition (Note 15). 






